The Measurement of Stress, Arousal and Power: Alternate and Expanded Versions of the Stress Arousal Check List

١

Jo Anne McGovern 1987

Saint Mary's University

Permission has been granted to the National Library of Canada to microfilm this thesis and to lend or sell copies of the film.

The author (copyright owner) has reserved other publication rights, and neither the thesis nor extensive extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without his/her written permission.

L'autorisation a été accordée à la Bibliothèque nationale du Canada de microfilmer cette thèse et de prêter ou de vendre des exemplaires du film.

L'auteur (titulaire du droit d'auteur) se réserve les autres droits de publication; ni la thèse ni de longs extraits de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation écrite.

ISBN 0-315-40287-3

# Table of Contents

LIST OF TABLES	iii .
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iv
SIGNATURE PAGE	ν
ABSTRACT	vi i
INTRODUCTION	1
Stress MODELS OF STRESS MODELS OF STRESS MODELS OF STRESS MODELS	2
MODELS OF STRESS	3
Strace as a Stimulus	3
Strèss as a Response	8
Stress as an Interaction	1.5
MEASURES OF STRESS	19
Stress as Stimulus Measures	19
Stress as Response Measures	20
Interactional Stress Measures	20
History of the ŞAGL	21
Development of the SACL	28
Reliability and validity of the SACL	30
Polarity of factors.	31
Replication of the factor structure of SACL	33
Check List of Arousal and Stress(CLAS)	
Check List of Arousal, Stress and Power(CLASP)	
Factor analysis: A brief review	<b>3</b> 7
METHOD	41
Overview	41
Subjects	
Test Materials	42
Procedure	
RESULTS	47
Factor Analysis of SACL Data	47
Factor Analysis of CLAS Data	52
Factor Analysis of CLASP Data	56
Reliability Coefficients for the Scales	
Pearson Product-Moment Correlation Coefficients	
Summary of Results.*	
DISCUSSION	
Replicability of the SACL	63
Size of communalities and replicability	
High-loading variables and replicability	64
Number of subjects and replicability	65

Factors and Factor Loadings-of SACL Items	36
The polarity of the SACI_factors	66
Low-loading SACL items	67 <u>.</u>
The factor loading cut-off point	<b>8</b> 6
Number of factors to interpret for SACL data	69
Factors and Factor Loadings of CLAS Items	70
The polarity of the CLAS factors	70
Low-loading CLAS items	70 · ·
Number of factors to interpret for CLAS data	71
Order of extraction of factors of the SACL and CLAS	72
Factors and Factor Loadings of CLASP Items	7.3
The polarity of the CLASP factors.	73
Low-loading CLASP items	73
Low-loading CLASP items  Number of factors to be interpreted for CLASP data	74
Order of extraction of factors of the CLASP	75
Reliability	₹6
A Three Factor Model of Stress	Ż7 _
Implications of a Three Factor Model of Stress	
for Assessment and Treatment	79
Ideas for Future Research	80
Conclusion	83 ,
REFERENCES	86
APPENDIX A	93
APPENDIX B	24
APPENDIX C	96
APPENDIX D	ِ 84و
APPENDIX E	99
APPENDIX F	101
APPENDIX G	102
APPENDIX H	103
APPENDIX I	105
APPENDIX J	106
ADDENDIVIZ	
APPENDIX L	107

# List of Tables

Factor Loadings of SACL Items	4	9
Mean Factor Loadings of the High Stress, Low Stress, High Arousal and Low Arousal Items of the SACL	5	1
Factor Loadings of CLAS and CLASP Items	5	3
Mean Factor Loadings of the High Stress, Low Stress, High Arousal and Low Arousal Items of the CLAS and CLASP		6
Reliability Coefficients for the Stress and Arousal Scales of the SACL, CLAS and CLAS and the CLASP Power Scale		9
Pearson Product-Moment Correlation Coefficients Calculated Between Respenses to the Items Comprising the Stress and Arousal Scales of the	6	Λ
	Mean Factor Loadings of the High Stress, Low Stress, High Arousal and Low Arousal Items of the SACL	Low Stress, High Arousal and Low Arousal Items of the SACL

### Acknowledgements

I would like to thank the people who assisted me with various aspects of my research. Special thanks goes to Dr. Robert Konopasky who guided me through the whole process, contributing much time and effort along the way. I am grateful to my committee members, Dr. John Chadwick-Jones, Dr. Rory O'Day, and Dr. Brent Vulcano, for all they contributed to the project. I would like to thank Dr. Ken-Hill and Dr. James Gerry, as well, for their participation in my thesis defense. I also wish to acknowledge my gratitude to Faizal Junus for all of his help. Finally, I would like to express my thanks to my parents and to Steve for their encouragement and support.

The Measurement of Stress, Arousal and Power: Alternate and Expanded Versions of the Stress Arousal Check List

Jo Anne McGovern

Submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

at Saint-Mary's University

Halifax, Nova Scotia

Approval: Robert Kingrasky
Faculty Advisor

Approval:

Committee Merober

Approvat:

Committee Member

Date:

August =7, 1987

# Abstract

The Measurement of Stress, Arousal and Power: Alternate and Expanded Versions of the Stress Arousal Check List

Jo Anne Mc Govern

July 3, 1987

The Stress Arousal Check List (SACL), a 30-item adjective check list developed through factor analytical studies (Mackay, Cox, Burrows and Lazzerini; 1978), offers assessments of two independent mood factors, stress and arousal. In this study, an alternate form of the SACL, the Check List of Arousal and Stress (CLAS), is presented. Each item of the CLAS is a short, simple phrase rather than a synonym for the SACL's somewhat difficult adjectives.

The literature indicates that a two factor theory of stress is inadequate and suggests a third and independent factor of stress, that is, power or strength/weakness. A power scale, of fifteen short phrases, is presented which measures this factor independently of stress and arousal. Combining this scale with the CLAS items provides a three factor measure of stress, the Check List of Arousal, Stress and Power (CLASP).

73.

The original SACL, the alternate form, and the power scale were administered to 394 subjects and the data were factor analyzed. Responses to the SACL were

analyzed to determine if Canadian data is consistent with British data (Mackay, Cox, Burrows and Lazzerini, 1978). The analysis yielded four monopolar factors, high stress, low stress, high arousal, and low arousal, rather than the two bipolar factors reported by Mackay et al. Responses to the CLAS were analyzed to determine whether this check list would produce the same factor structure as the SACL. Again, four monopolar factors, high stress, low stress, high arousal, and low arousal, emerged.

In combination with the responses to the CLAS, the power scale responses were factor analyzed to determine whether the power scale measures a new and independent factor. This analysis did yield six monopolar factors, high stress, low stress, high arousal, low arousal, high power, low power, indicating that the new scale measured power independently of stress and arousal.

SACL and CLAS scores of stress and arousal were obtained and these scores were significantly correlated (p < 001).

Stress, its causes and treatment, has attracted and sustained the attention of the professional and the layman (McGrath, 1970; Selye, 1980a; Cooper, 1983). But, even after years of research, stress remains without a clear-cut definition and the measurement of stress varies from one study to another. (Cox, 1978; Selye, 1983). It is the intention of this thesis to review and organize the stress literature and to introduce a new measure of stress. First, the thesis presents three models of stress: (a) stress as a stimulus, (b) stress as a response, and (c) stress as an interaction between stimulus and response. Measures of stress appropriate to each of these models are discussed and one, the stress Arousal Check List (SACL), is reviewed in detail. The history and development of the SACL are considered as well as the factor structure, reliability and validity of the check list. Next, the underlying dimensions or components of stress are discussed.

The two factor measure of stress developed by the author, the Check List of Arousal and Stress (CLAS) which represents an alternate version of the SACL, is then presented. Responses by 392 subjects were analyzed and the factor analytical results are reported. A second measure, developed by the author, the Check List of Arousal, Stress and Power (CLASP), a three factor measure of stress is presented next. The final section provides the reader with a brief description of factor analysis which was an integral part of the present study's methodology.

The basic sense of the term "stress" can be traced back to at least the fifteenth century when it represented "physical strain or pressure" (Shaffer, 1982, p. 1). While this meaning held in such fields as engineering and architecture for more than a hundred years, other meanings were added. By the year 1704, for example, a human element was included in this concept and "stress" could also refer to "hardship, straits, or adversity" (Shaffer, 1982, p. 1). This definition of stress was broadened again, by the mid 1800's, to include, "strain upon a bodily organ or mental power." Other related meanings continued to surface but none deviated from the central notion that "stress" was some sort of force until Selye published his seminal paper in 1936.

Although Selye initially avoided using the term, "stress," by the mid 1940's he did report his findings on the effect of "stressors" or putside forces (Selye, 1946). Shaffer (1982) points out that the most significant aspect of Selye's work was the reversal of the traditional definition of stress: "stress" was no longer an agent or force but was regarded as the result produced within an organism by the presence of some other agent or force. Today, this interpretation of "stress" has its proponents (Kagan and Levi, 1971), and its opponents (Welford, 1973) who continue to support the original view of "stress" as an agent or force. In addition to joining one or the other interpretations, others have modified Selye's definition making it fundamentally different. For example, McGrath (1976) and Cox (1978) defined stress as a dynamic interaction between stimulus or agent

and response or result.

A review of the scientific interature on stress reveals three schools of thought (McGrath, 1970; Cox, 1978). In the first, stress is viewed as a stimulus, stress is described in terms of the stimulus characteristics of disturbing or noxious penvironments and would, therefore, be the independent variable in stress studies. In the second, stress is considered to be a response to environments rather than a stimulus in environments. Stress is the dependent variable in these studies. The third approach views stress "as the reflection of a lack of fit between the person and his environment" (Cox, 1978, p. 3). Stress defined in this way is studied as both stimulus and response or as an intervening variable between the stimulus and the response. The three models will be presented in detail in the pages to follow.

#### Models of Stress

### Stress as a Stimulus

Advocates of this model retain the notion, which emerged in centuries past, that stress is some sort of agent or force. In this "engineering" model, external stresses give rise to a reaction within the individual (Cox, 1978). Accordingly, stress is studied as an important independent variable and the interest is in what stimuli are stressful. Perhaps Symonds (1947) expresses the position taken by proponents of this model most clearly in his statement concerning psychological problems of Royal Air Force pilots. He wrote, "it should be understood once

and for all that [flying] stress is that which happens to the man, not that which happens in him; it is a set of causes, not a set of symptoms\* (p. 13).

This stimulus based or engineering model of stress has been compared with Hooke's law of elasticity (Cox, 1978). Hooke's law is concerned with the stress or the load or demand being placed on metal and the strain or deformation which results. The law states that as long as the strain produced by stress falls within the elasticity limit of the metal; the material will return to its original condition once the stress is removed. If, however, the strain exceeds the elasticity limit, then some permanent damage will result. The engineering model would suggest that just as inanimate objects have an elasticity limit so do people possess a built-in toleration of stress; stress can be tolerated but only to a certain point. Once this point is exceeded, permanent damage, physiological and psychological, may result.

There would appear to be great variation among individuals with respect to tolerance of stress, what is tolerable to one being completely intolerable to another. Studies have illuminated the personality characteristics and backgrounds associated with a high tolerance level of, or little deformation as the result of, stress (Korchin & Ruff, 1964; Ruff & Korchin, 1964). Astronauts participated in these studies under training conditions and during simulated space flights. Neither their performance or mood were adversely affected when under stress. When encountering a difficult situation the astronauts would

(a) stop, (b) appraise the situation, (c) decide on what action should be taken, and (d) follow it through. The astronauts were all between 32 and 37 years of age, were all married with children, had middle-class upbringings, and were all Protestant although not actively religious. They grew up in small communities, received their education in state schools and had all graduated from engineering. Others described them as ambitious, capable, intelligent, successful, self-assured, persevering, highly controlled, and very accurate in their perception of reality. Korchin and Ruff (1964) and Ruff and Korchin (1964) concluded that the backgrounds of these astronauts, which they considered both demanding and stimulating, contributed to the astronauts' high tolerance of stress.

Heredity, early experience, and later learning have been related to tolerance of stress in experimental studies (Levine, 1967, 1975). Levine (1975) indicated that rats subjected to electric shock and other stresses in early life developed normally and could cope well with stress in later life whereas rats not exposed to such stimulation grew up to be timid and deviant. These two groups of animals had markedly different responses to stress as adults. The rats stressed in infancy showed a prompt and effective physiological response to stress while those not so stimulated responded much more slowly and less effectively. More adaptive adult behaviour was clearly associated with infantile experience with stress.

Cox (1978) states that the two important questions for a stimultis-based definition of stress are (a) what conditions can be assumed to be stressful, and (b) what characteristics do they share. Situations involving extremes of sensory stimulation and work load are commonly described as stressful. Such situations may be characterized as being too noisy, too hot, too cold, too isolated or too crowded. In similar fashion; Weitz (1970) described eight types of stress: (a) speeded information processing, (b) noxious environmental stimuli, (c) perceived threat, (d) disrupted physiological function, (e) isolation and confinement, (f) blocking, (g) group pressure, and (h) frustration. Other, researchers have seen fit to add to this list. Frankenhaeuser (1975) suggested that "lack of control over events" should be added to Weitz's list. Lazarus (1976), believing that "perceived threat" is the central characteristic of stressful situations, would add "threat to a person's most important values and goals."

Still, all of these situations can be viewed in terms of the demands made on the person by his environment.

While the simplicity of this engineering analogy makes it attractive, Cox (1978) points out that it has severe limitations. For example, while an undemanding situation results in maximum well-being in the case of machinery, undemanding or boring situations are as stressful, to many individuals, as situations in which the demand is excessive. Welford (1973) has proposed that man, like most organisms, functions best when moderate demand has been placed upon him. If an individual's performance is not up to par it may be due to

either too high or too low a level of demand. Stress occurs whenever there is a deviation from optimum conditions of demand which the person cannot tolerate or cannot easily correct. According to Welford, then, it is necessary to think in both positive and negative departures from the optimum; for example, an individual may be too isolated or too crowded.

Margetts (1975) defines stress similarly but talks about stimulus input rather than environmental demand. Organisms, normally, are subjected to inputs of stimuli within predictable limits; should the input of stimuli become either excessive or insufficient, that is fall outside those limits, the excess or insufficiency of stimulation can be defined as stress. As the organism can tolerate neither the excessive or insufficient level of stimulus input, it will show a state of disequilibrium; if the extreme level of stimulus input is continued, the organism will eventually show functional or physiological pathology.

Perhaps the major difficulty with the stimulus-based definitions of stress is identifying, with some certainty, what is stressful about particular real-life situations. There being no commonly accepted points of reference, only intuition and consensus appear to guide this decision-making process at present. There is also a need to quantify the degree of stress caused by those different situations. There is also the problem of some stimuli evoking the appropriate stress response from most but not all people. If stress resides in the stimulus, why do not all people show the same effects if subjected to it? Cox (1978, p. 17)

writes, "Possibly the most important question to ask of experiments on stress, which treat it as the independent variable, is, does stress exist in the eye of the subject or in the eye of the experimentor?" Cox contends that, unless the stress-strain relationship in man is both unconscious and automatic, one has to acknowledge that some intervening psychological process mediates the outcome of that relationship. While a machine does not recognize the load or stress put upon it, stress is perceived and recognized by man, and man responds to it."

# Stress as a Response

The goal of a response-based definition of stress includes the specification of a class or classes of response which may be taken as evidence that the organism is or recently has been under pressure from a noxious environment (McGrath, 1970; Cox, 1978). Stress is generally treated as the dependent variable in studies governed by this response-based definition. Selye's (1956) definition, credited with giving much of the early momentum to the area of stress research, was essentially a response-based definition. He considered stress to be one of the organism's responses to the demands of its environment.

First, Selye (1983b) insisted that the physiology of the stress response is common across different species and is independent of the nature of the stressor. The stress-response syndrome consists of a universal pattern of defence reactions serving to protect the organism and preserve its integrity. The

specific character of the source of stress does not matter, the non-specific defence reaction is virtually the same for all animals. Second, Selye believed that this defence-reaction changes with continual or repeated exposure to the stressor, through three identifiable stages, collectively described as the General Adaptation Syndrome (GAS) (Selye, 1983b).

The first phase of the GAS is the alarm reaction which is the organism's reaction when it is suddenly exposed to diverse stimuli to which it cannot adapt (Selye, 1983b). The alarm reaction phase is divided into two phases, the shock phase and the countershock phase. The initial and immediate reaction to the noxious agent is shock. Various signs of shock such as tachycardia, loss of muscle tone, decreased temperature, and decreased blood pressure are typical symptoms. The countershock phase is marked by a rebound reaction during which defenses are mobilized. The adrenal cortex is enlarged and secretion of the corticoid hormones is increased. If the agent is so noxious, however, that continued exposure becomes incompatible with life, the organism may die during the alarm reaction within days or even the first few hours. If the organism can survive this initial alarm reaction, however, the phase is followed by (the stage of) resistance.

The stage of resistance is characterized by the organism's full adaptation to the stressor and the consequent improvement or disappearance of the symptoms of shock. The manifestations of this second phase are quite different

from those found in the alarm reaction stage. For example, during the alarm reaction, the cells of the adrenal cortex discharge their secretory granules into the bloodstream and thus become depleted of corticoid-containing lipid storage material. In contrast, during the stage of resistance the cortex becomes particularly rich in secretory granules (Selye, 1983b). But if there is continued exposure to the noxious agent, the acquired adaptation may be lost and the animal will enter a third stage, exhaustion. As adaptability necessarily has its limits, exhaustion will, inevitably, occur if the stressor is sufficiently severe and prolonged. Symptoms will appear once more and, should the stress continue unabated, death will follow.

The third assumption underlying Selye's concept of stress is that severe and prolonged defence responses result in disease states, the so-called diseases of adaptation. The "cost" of defence against exposure to stressor agents, then, may be illness. This occurs when the maintenance of defence overextends the resources of the physiological system.

The non-specificity of the stress response has been emphasized by Selye (1946, 1980a, 1980b, 1983a, 1983b). As a medical student Selye observed a general malaise in people who were ill which was present regardless of the specific nature of the sickness. The syndrome was marked by the following: a loss of appetite and associated loss of weight and strength, a loss of ambition, and a recognizable facial expression. Upon closer examination Selye included

the following in his list of indicators: enlargement and dark discolouration of the adrenal glands, intense shrinkage of the thymus, spleen and lymph nodes, and deep bleeding ulcers of the stomach and upper gut. He believed that this general syndrome of illness was superimposed on all individual diseases and was a manifestation of the non-specific general adaptation syndrome.

Although this understanding of the non-specificity of the stress response (illness) has proved useful, there is a growing body of opinion proposing that there is a good deal of specificity in the bodily response to stressors. Mason (1971) has, observed, for example, that some noxious physical conditions such as exercise, fasting and heat do not produce the GAS while others do. Even more convincing, exercise may serve to protect the organism even though one would predict, based on its characteristics and the organism's response, that it should produce the GAS. Research has also shown that the pattern of physiological reaction in stress situations is greatly affected by the specific stimulating conditions. Studies of heart rate response by Lacey (1967) and Folkins (1970) provide two examples of such research. The heart rate response appears to be bidirectional, rising when a person is oriented to shut out (stressful) environmental stimuli but dropping when he is looking for a stimulus to minimize (stressful) boredom (Lacey, 1967). And there are other examples of direct contradictions of the GAS model. For example, Folkins (1970) reported that even when the anticipated stimulus is highly stressful, as with electric shock, the heart rate falls sharply rather than rises. These results clearly contradict

Selye's (1946, 1980a, 1980b, 1983a, 1983b) contention that the stress response is non-specific. Perhaps, generally, the stress response is non-specific with the exception of a few stressors to which stress or response is specific.

Selve's concept of stress all but ignores psychological processes (Selve, 1946, 1956, 1980a, 1980b). He focused on what occurs biochemically after the body's defenses have been aroused, not on the physiological and psychological signalling system which recognizes the noxious stimuli and effects and distinguishes them from benign events. But others have underscored this part of the process. It has been proposed (Mason, 1971; Lazarus, 1976) that the hormonal changes comprising Selve's GAS may come about precisely because the animal senses that it is in trouble; the psychological processes involved in this identification may initiate the (hormonal) defensive reaction rather than the physical injury initiating a series of predictable interlocking biochemical events. A study by Symington, Currie, Curran, and Davidson (1955) supports this notion. They discovered that patients dying from injury or disease who were unconscious after sustaining the injury or disease showed no enlargement of the adrenals at autopsy. If, however, the patient remained conscious after sustaining the injury or disease, autopsy revealed enlarged adrenals. Shannon and Isbell (1963) showed that the anticipation of a dental hypodermic needle injection resulted in as much stress reaction, as measured by the amount of an adrenal hormone in the blood, as actually experiencing the needle puncture itself.

Kagan and Levi (1971) have described the role of psychological factors in physical disease but retained Selye's construct of non-specific responses to noxious forces. Their central hypothesis states that psychosocial stimuli can and do cause such stress disorders. They believe that some life changes, mediated by psychological processes, trigger a physiological stress response which prepares the individual for the physical activity of coping. If this stress response, which continues to be mediated by psychological processes, is prolonged, intense or frequent, there is an increase of wear and tear in the person and structural as well as functional damage results. In the long term, this leads to an increase in the incidence of disease and death.

What is the nature of these psychological processes? In Kagan and Levi's (1971) theoretical model, external influences or psychosocial stimuli are moderated by genetic factors and early experience on the part of the organism. Together, these personal factors, genetics and early experience, form a psychobiological programme or a propensity to react (stress reaction) in accordance with a certain pattern (stress stimuli). Thus the psychosocial stimuli and the psychobiological programme together determine the occurrence of the stress reaction, which in turn might lead to the forerunners of disease, and then to disease itself. Two other important features of the model include (a) intervening variables which can be either intrinsic or extrinsic, mental or physical, and which can modify the effect of the psychosocial stimuli and

psychobiological programme; and (b) continuous feedback which occurs among all of its components. Although this model is definitely a complex one, it originates from a simple response-based definition of stress.

Another popular response-based definition of stress views stress in terms of degradation of performance rather than in terms of physiological indicators (McGrath, 1970; Cox, 1978). But there are problems with the performance degradation model; performance degradation does not always take place according to the model. For example, Davies (1968) has shown that change in the level of performance of psychological tasks may not take place depending on numerous environmental and individual factors. Furthermore, while degradation may occur during certain conditions on one occasion with a particular individual, the same effect may not be reproduced at a different time with the same or different individual.

McGrath (1970) has pointed out several general weaknesses with response-based definitions of stress. According to such definitions, he maintains, any stimulus which produces the stress response must be considered a stressor not stress. This would mean that stimuli such as the various emotions, physical exercise and fasting would all have to be viewed as stressors. But there is clear evidence that some of these events serve to enhance the organism's well-being and do not produce stress. Conversely, some situations not generally accepted as being stressful may trigger a stress reaction.

Stress as an Interaction Between Stimulus and Response .

As the inadequacies of the stress as a stimulus and stress as a response models became clear, the two were fused together into an interactional model (McGrath 1976; Lazarus 1976; Cox, 1978; Cox and Mackay, 1981).

Cox and Mackay developed an interactional model which assumes an active role of the person in the occurrence of stress (Cox, 1978; Cox & Mackay, 1981). They believe that stress is best described as part of a complex, dynamic system of transaction between the individual and his environment. While they admit that such a definition borrows parts of both the stimulus-based and response-based models, it includes and emphasizes the ecological and transactional nature of stress. Simply put, this model views stress as an individual perceptual phenomenon that is rooted in psychological processes.

The authors outline five stages in stress. The first is represented by various sources of demand relating to the person. "Demand" refers to a request or requirement for physical or mental action and implies some time restraints. While demand has generally been considered to be a factor of the person's external environment the present model includes both external and internal demands. For example, a person's psychological and physiological needs may constitute internally generated demand. The individual's perception of the demand and of his own ability to cope with it compose the second stage.

According to Cox (1978) and Cox and Mackay (1981), stress may be said to arise when there is an imbalance between the perceived demand and the person's perception of his capability to meet that demand. To reiterate, the important balance or imbalance is between perceived demand and perceived capability not between actual demand and actual capability. For example, an individual will not experience stress in a situation that demands too/much of him if he is not aware of his limitations. Once he realizes that he cannot meet the demand, however, the critical imbalance will be accompanied by the emotional experience of stress. This emotional experience of stress is in turn associated with changes in the person's physiological state, and initiates cognitive and behavioural attempts to reduce the stressful nature of the demand. The third stage of this model is comprised of the psychophysiological changes which represent the response to stress. The responses to stress are actually the methods of coping available to the individual. The fourth stage is concerned with the consequences, that is, whether the responses to the demand were adequate and whether the need for success was great or small. Consistent with this Secription of the fourth stage, Sells (1970) found that stress was experienced. only when the individual's failure to meet a demand resulted in important consequences or when adverse consequences were expected. Feedback is designated as the fifth stage in this stress model although it actually occurs continually at all of the other stages, affecting the outcome of each of those stages. Feedback occurs when a physiological response, for example, the release of adrenaline, influences the individual's perception of the stressful

situation, or when a behavioural response, for example, studying for a difficult examination, alters the actual nature of the demand.

Howarth (1978) proposed a model of stress which is similar to Cox and Mackay's (1981) model of stress as perceived imbalance between a demand and capability to respond successfully to the demand, but which also includes some mechanical or simple components. He suggested that there are four theoretical views of stress: the biological, the developmental, the social, and the phenomenological. From the biological viewpoint, stress may be said to arise when the individual's life style differs too greatly from the kind of life to which primitive man became evolutionarily adapted. Developmentally, it may result if the individual is not prepared by his upbringing and education for the demands his life style impose upon him. Socially, conflicting pressures or being forced to assume inconsistent roles may cause stress. Failure to live up to one's ideals or to attain one's goals may lead to stress according to the phenomenological point of view.

A model very similar to the one provided by Cox and Mackay (1981), was proposed by McGrath (1976). He stated that an individual may experience stress when a situation is perceived as presenting a demand which threatens to exceed that individual's capabilities and esources for meeting it and when it is important that the person meets the demand. Initially, McGrath (1970) believed that a small discrepancy between perceived demand and perceived capability

would not be experienced as very stressful, at least not unless coping was absolutely vital. Lowe and McGrath (1976) now argue that, given an imbalance, the closer perceived demand is to perceived capability the greater is the stress experienced. But Cox (1978) has criticized McGrath's notion of minimum discrepancy causing maximum stress. While Cox admits that outcomes are less predictable when there are small rather than large imbalances between perceived demand and capability and uncertainty may exaccerbate the stress reaction, he finds it difficult to imagine that overwhelming or disastrous situations could be less stressful than more moderate ones.

Lazarus (1976) has also provided an interactional definition of stress.

According to Lazarus, "stress occurs when there are demands on the person which tax or exceed his adjustive resources" (1976, p. 47). The individual's appraisal of his situation is of utmost importance according to Lazarus. For example, conflict may lead to the threat of harm. The intensity of the threat depends on how well the individual feels he can deal with the danger or harm which might ensue. If the individual feels capable, the threat and stress is minimal. If, however, the individual feels helpless and incapable of handling the situation, the threat or stress will be very severe.

In summary, the interactional model is a psychologically based approach which assumes that stress has to do with the individual's perception of and relation to his environment (Cox, 1978). As it deals with these factors and the

than does either of the two simple approaches which define stress as a stimulus or a response. One problem with the interactional definition is that it does not account for situations where action or coping places such a severe demand on the body that physiological fatigue or damage are caused directly without the involvement of psychological processes. Such situations are best explained by one of the two previously discussed approaches which are more mechanical in nature.

## Measures of Stress

## Stress as Stimulus Measures

The measure of stress an investigator adopts is determined by his definition of stress. Appropriate measures, according to a stimulus-based model of stress would include measures of conditions or events to which people are subjected such as temperature, noise level, degree of isolation, extent of overwork, and life events such as marriage, divorce, and death of a leved one. The Schedule of Recent Life Experiences (SRE) developed by Holmes and Rahe (1967) consists of 43 possible life events which have been assigned scores for their relative impact on life and the degree of readjustment involved in coping with them. For example, "death of a spouse" was given a value of 190 while "minor violations of the law" was assigned a value of 11. The authors arrived at these values by asking people to evaluate the extent of social readjustment required by life events on a scale of zero to 100, starting with "marriage" which was assigned an

arbitrary value of 50 by the authors.

## Stress as Response Measures

Physiological indices, such as the amount of catecholamine found in the urine of an individual, are often the measures utilized by researchers who advocate a response-based definition of stress. Taggart and Caruthers (1971) and Frankenhaeuser (1975) have demonstrated that there is an increase in catecholamine in subjects in response to situations, such as race-cal driving. Selye (1983b) has suggested a variety of other physiological indices including the enlargement of the adrenal cortex and an increase in the secretion of the corticoid hormones, as measures of stress.

### Interactional Stress Measures

One well-researched measure of stress appropriate for those who support an interactional definition of stress is the Stress Arousal Check List (SACL) which was developed by Mackay, Cox, Burrows and Lazzerini (1978). It consists of 30 adjectives to which each subject responds according to a four point scale: (a) "++" the adjective definitely describes the way you feel at the moment, (b) "+" the adjective only likely applies to your feelings at the moment, (c) "?" the adjective is not clear to you or you cannot decide whether or not it applies to your feelings at the moment, or (d) "-" the adjective definitely does not describe how you feel at the moment.

The check list provides scores for two independent factors, stress and arousal, and obtaining a score for each of the scales of the SACL is relatively simple (Mackay et al., 1978). First, the response scale is split into two parts, (a) "++" and "+," and (b) "?" and "-." Responses of either "++" and "+" or "?" and "-" are scored the same way. Responses are scored as one or zero according to whether the adjective in question is keyed positive or negative. For positively keyed adjectives, like "tense" and "active," a response of "++" or "+" is scored as one. A response of "?" or "-" receives a score of zero. For negatively keyed adjectives, the scoring is reversed. To low stress and low arousal words such as "peaceful" and "drowsy", a score of one is assigned to a "?" or "-" response, while a score of zero is assigned to a "++" or "+" response. The total score for stress is based on the 18 stress adjectives and the total score for arousal is based on the 12 arousal adjectives. In the sections to follow the SACL will be reviewed in detail.

## History of the SACL.

The SACL is based on two tests of mood states. Nowlis and Nowlis (1956), developed a test of transient mood states, the Mood Adjective Check List (MACL), using Cattell's (1950) list of self-descriptive adjectives. The MACL is probably the most widely used multiple mood inventory (Howarth & Schokman-Gates, 1981) and has appeared in various formats ranging from 40 to 140 items, with all forms allowing self-rating on 12 mood factors. Originally, a list of 130 words were administered to approximately 450 college students who

were asked to indicate whether the adjectives described themselves. Factor analysis yielded 12 factors which follow: aggression, anxiety, surgency, elation, fatigue, social affection, sadness, skepticism, egotism, vigor, concentration, and nonchalance. Nowlis (1971) expected the factors to be bipolar but the analysis yielded monopolar factors. This finding suggested that moods often thought to be mutually exclusive could vary independently of each other and could, therefore, be simultaneously present in the same individual.

Thayer (1967), influenced by this work and interested in measuring basic factors of mood developed the Activation-Deactivation Check List (AD-ACL). The AD-ACL instructs subjects to respond to each adjective on the basis of how well the word describes their feelings at the moment. A four-point scale with symbols representing the responses of "definitely feel," "feel slightly," "cannot decide," and "definitely do not feel" is provided for each adjective. In the AD-ACL, 28 activation/deactivation adjectives like "peppy" and "leisurely" were presented with 21 other mood adjectives like "blue" and "grouchy" included as a means of disguising the purpose of the test. Many of these adjectives were drawn from the list provided by Nowlis (1965). Two hundred and eleven students were administered the AD-ACL and the resulting data was factor analyzed. The analysis yielded four monopolar factors: (a) general activation, (b) high activation, (c) general deactivation, and (d) deactivation-sleep. The general activation factor showed high loadings for the following adjectives: "lively, active, full-of-pep, energetic, peppy, vigorous," and "activated." The factor labelled high

activation showed high loadings for the following: "clutched-up, jittery, stirred-up, fearful," and "intense." General deactivation, a third factor, showed high loadings for these adjectives: "at-rest, still, leisurely, quiescent, quiet, calm," and "placid." Last, the deactivation-sleep factor showed high loadings for only three adjectives: "sleepy, tired," and "drowsy." Thayer suggested that these monopolar factors approximate four points on a hypothetical activation or arousal continuum.

The final version of the AD-ACL consists of 50 adjectives (Thayer, 1978a). Two high activation adjectives, "tense" and "anxious," were added to the twenty-two, high-loading activation adjectives listed above. These adjectives are interspersed among 26 other mood-descriptive adjectives, included by Thayer to both disguise the purpose of the test and to provide data on a variety of mood dimensions. Thayer (1978a) also developed a short form of the check list containing 20 activation/deactivation items which showed the highest loadings on the four factors.

Thayer (1967) conducted a number of validation and reliability studies on the AD-ACL. He assessed reliability by dividing subjects into four groups with each of the groups receiving a check list in which two of the activation-deactivation adjectives were repeated a second time. Test-retest reliability coefficients were then computed for these eight activation-deactivation adjectives and a median correlation coefficient of .75 was obtained.

The validity of the check list was indicated by significant correlations between the scores subjects obtained on the AD-ACL and measures of heart rate and skin resistance under various conditions (Thayer, 1967). In other studies, the AD-ACL scores of subjects were correctly predicted in situations differing, according to a priori criteria, in levels of activation (Thayer, 1967).

While Thayer (1967) reported finding monopolar factors in his early studies, subsequent research suggests that the AD-ACL corresponds to two bipolar rather than four monopolar factors (Thayer; 1978a). He (1978a) carried out two extensive studies with large numbers of subjects. The 50-item AD-ACL was administered in the first study while the 20-adjective short form of the check list was completed by subjects in the second study. Results of the factor analyses strongly suggested two bipolar factors rather than four independent factors. The first of these two factors included the adjectives which composed the high activation and general deactivation factors while the second factor combined those adjectives which comprised the general activation and deactivation-sleep factors. These findings led Thayer (1978b) to propose a two-dimensional model of activation: one activation dimension ranged from feelings of energy and vigor to the opposite feelings of sleepiness and tiredness; the second dimension ranged from tension to placidity and quietness.

At the same time, Thayer cautioned that the concept of four separate monopolar activation factors should not be completely abandoned. Based on the finding of bipolar factors, he predicted high negative correlations on the bipolar factors. Instead, Thayer found inconsistent patterns of correlations among these scores. Rather than embrace the monopolar or the bipolar view of mood states, Thayer suggested that a model of two bipolar activation factors might be usefully employed in research but that applied measurement should assume four separate activation factors.

et al. (1978) defined as the internal response to the perceived favourability of the external environment, and arousal, which they defined as a representation of ongoing autonomic and somatic activity. Mackay (1980) has even suggested that stress and arousal might represent the two basic components of self-reported mood states. Stress or negative hedonistic tone, which reflects a lack of well-being or discomfort, and arousal, which reflects activation or vigor. Meddis (1969) also proposed two basic components or factors of mood states:

(a) hedonic tone which reflects a general sense of well-being, and (b) vigor which corresponds to the physiological concept of arousal.

Selye (1980) has advocated a two component model of stress, as well: (a) pleasantness/unpleasantness, and (b) low stress/high stress. Contrary to a common sense model, unpleasantness and stress are independent dimensions.

Selye's model allows for the experience of stress in a pleasant situation, and for the absence of stress in an unpleasant one. In addition to these two components or factors of response-based stress, Selye distinguished between situations (stimuli) of overstress and understress. He termed excessive stimulation, hyperstress, and deprivation of stimulation, hypostress, and proposed that both could result in an increase in stress.

Although Mackay et al. (1978) and Selye (1980) both support a two dimensional theory of stress they differ as to the specific dimensions. Mackay et al. distinguish between stress and arousal but make no distinction between stress and unpleasantness. Selye identified unpleasantness and stress as stress factors but did not identify arousal as a stress factor.

Three-factor theories of mood have been proposed by Russell and Mehrabian (1977) and Konopasky (1986). Russell and Mehrabian provide evidence that three independent and bipolar dimensions: (a) pleasure/displeasure, (b) degree of arousal, and (c) dominance/submissiveness, are both necessary and sufficient to define emotional states. After carefully reviewing the literature, Konopasky has proposed a model of stress which would include the following three factors: (a) stress or pleasantness/unpleasantness, (b) arousal, and (c) power or strength/weakness.

There is support for Konopasky's (1986) third factor, power, in the literature. Eyen Cox (1978) who developed the SACL, a two-factor measure of stress, has suggested that power or strength is an important component of stress. For example, Cox maintains that stress arises when there is an imbalance between the perceived demand and the individual's perception of his ability to meet those demands. Similarly's McGrath (1976) proposed that there is potential for experiencing stress when a situation is perceived as presenting a demand which threatens to exceed the person's capabilities and resources for meeting it. Again Lazarus (1976) has suggested that stress occurs when there are demands on the person which he believes exceed his resources.

Development of the SACL.

Mackay et al. (1978) encountered considerable difficulty interpreting the unclear factor analytic results obtained after administrating Thayer's (1967)

AD-ACL. They theorized that the problem might be the result of the particular adjectives Thayer used. Thayer, being American, used words common to the American culture and, perhaps, inappropriate for a British population. Mackay et al. suggested that the frequency of adjectives like "peppy," "full of pep," "clutched-up;" and "blue," for example, would be much lower in the United Kin dom than in the United States and might confuse British subjects.

Mackay et al. (1978) used Thayer's original list of words excluding those deemed too American and substituting adjectives more appropriate for a British population. This list of 45 adjectives was administered to 145 British undergraduate students (See Appendix A). A principal components factor analysis with varimax rotation yielded two bipolar factors which were labelled stress and arousal. The stress factor corresponded to a combination of Thayer's high activation and general deactivation factors while the arousal factor corresponded to a combination of the general activation and deactivation-sleep factors. A second analysis on data collected from 72 subjects, who had each completed the inventory twice, produced nearly identical results.

As not all adjectives showed high loadings on one or the other factor, Mackay et al. (1978) decided to eliminate some "ambiguous" items. Any adjective which

obtained a loading of less than 0.40 on one of the factors was eliminated. Of the original 45 adjectives 11 were dropped leaving a total of 34 adjectives. Mackay et al.'s stress factor showed high positive loadings for the following high stress adjectives: "tense, worried, apprehensille, bothered, uneasy, dejected, uptight, jittery, nervous, distressed," and "fearful." The stress factor, being bipolar, also showed high negative loadings for the following low stress words: "peaceful, relaxed, cheerful, contented, pleasant, comfortable, calm," and "restful." The arousal factor listed high positive loadings for the following high all adjectives: "active, energetic, vigorous, alert, lively, activated, stimulated," and "aroused." The arousal factor, being bipolar, also showed high negative loadings for the following low arousal words: "drowsy, tired, idle, sluggish, sleepy, somnolent," and "passive." Four more adjectives were dropped from the check list in 1978, "fearful, aroused, somnolent," and "passive." In comparison with the other 30 adjectives, these adjectives showed weak loadings on the declared factors and were felt to be somewhat difficult for subjects.

Mackay et al. (1978) suggest that the thirty adjectives which compose the SACL reflect two fundamental aspects of mood: (a) stress which they define as feeling tense, uncomfortable, unpleasant, and bothered, and (b) arousal which is defined as being alert, awake, attentive, and lively. The model of mood states underlying the SACL is, then, two dimensional: one dimension, stress, related to feelings of unpleasantness and pleasantness or hedonic tone; the other, arousal, relates to ongoing autonomic and somatic activity.

Reliability and validity of the SACL.

Watts, Cox and Robson (1983) report that the split-half reliability coefficients for the stress and arousal scales are acceptable at 0.80 and 0.82, respectively. Validity has also been demonstrated in a number of different clinical and occupational studies. For example, Burrows, Cox and Simpson (1977) provide evidence of the predictive validity of the SACL in their paper on the measurement of stress in a sales training situation. A physiological instrument, the measurement of capillary blood glucose levels, and a psychological one, the SACL, were utilized by Burrows et al. to measure stress in participants who were required to complete arduous and demanding sales training exercises. The results indicated that both blood glucose and the SACL are useful in describing the nature and operation of stress in this occupational situation. Cox, Thirlaway and Cox (1982) investigated the relationships among physiological measures such as heart rate, heart rate variability, and blood glucose levels, and a psychological measure, the SACL. Their results confirmed the check list as a valid tool for the reesurement of stress. Finally, predictive validity of the SACL was reported by Ray and Fitzgibbon (1981). In this study, stress and arousal were assessed pre-operatively by the SACL in a sample of cholecystectomy patients. Measures of post-operative adjustment were taken following surgery. These included post-operative stress which was assessed by administering the SACL on the fifth day following surgery, pain-ratings, number of days to discharge, amount of pain and sleep medication required, and occurrence of negative reactions and complications. Stress before surgery was positively

related to stress and pain experienced post-operatively. Argusal, by contrast, was negatively related to pain, medications, and period before discharge.

Polarity of factors.

While Mackay et al. (1978) reported bipolar factors on analyzing responses to the SACL, others, using the same or similar tests, have not. Indeed, the debate continues as to whether mood states are monopolar or bipolar (Meddis, 1972; Thayer, 1978a; Lorr & Shea, 1979; Lorr, McNair & Fisher, 1982). Initially, Nowlis (1970) was surprised to find that research with his MACL yielded: monopolar rather than bipolar results (Nowlis & Nowlis, 1956; Green & Nowlis, 1957). He concluded that mood states often considered to be mutually exclusive actually may vary quite independently of each other and may, therefore, be present with considerable intensity within the same individual. Meddis (1972) suggested that such a factor structure is at odds with common sense pointing out Nowlis' (1965) contention that happiness and sadness are not opposed but vary largely independently of one another. Meddis suggested that results such as those reported by Nowlis and Nowlis (1956) and Green and Nowlis (1957) came about because of the interaction of the particular statistical analysis and the asymmetrical response scales, two categories of acceptance but only one of rejection, used. The scales used by Meddis (1969) in his own version of a mood adjective check list were symmetrical offering as many negative as positive response categories. The resulting factors were clearly bipolar. Meddis assumed that asymmetrical scales suppressed negative correlations and

minimized the likelihood of bipolar factors in the factor analysis. But this assumption is inconsistent with the findings of Mackay et al. They reported bipolar factors even though the SACL utilized an asymmetrical response scale.

Research by Lork and Shea (1979) offered some support for both Nowlis (1965, 1970) and Meddis (1969, 1972). Lorr and Shea found that some moods appear to be bipolar while others are not. For example, they found that "cheerful" and "dejected" reflect monopolar factors rather than reflecting two poles of one factor. A person who is not cheerful, they contend, need not be dejected. Rather, the person might be grouphy, tired, anxious, or thoughtful. Subsequent research by Lorr, McNair and Fisher (1982) suggests a stronger case for the bipolar model of mood states than for the monopolar model of mood: In this study, psychiatric subjects were administered the Profile of Mood. States (POMS) and tested for the presence of five bipolar mood states after the influence of an asymmetrical response format had been removed. Lorr et al. used a five-point symmetrical response scale which offered the following response categories: "not at all," "a little," "moderately," "quite a bit," and extremely." The predicted factors of affect were: (a) composed versus anxious," (b) agreeable versus hostile, (c) energetic versus fatigued, (d) elated versus depressed, and (e) clear-thinking versus confused. Their results indicated that factors of mood states tend to be bipolar when subjects use symmetrical rating scales.

Replication of the factor structure of the SACL.

The factor structure for SACL data reported by Mackay et al. (1978) has been replicated by some and not by others. McCormick, Walkey and Taylor (1985) examined the factor structure of the SACL after collecting data from 203 New Zealand University students. The results presented an almost exact replication of the two bipolar factors reported by Mackay et al. Only one item, "dejected," failed to reach the factor loading cut-off of 0.40 set by Mackay et al. on the appropriate, stress, factor.

In Australia, King, Burrows and Stanley (1983) administered a modified version of the SACL to 126 subjects. The check list was modified in that only 20 of the SACL items were used, ten for each of the scales measuring stress and arousal. The 20 items chosen by King et al. had the highest factor loadings according to Mackay et al.'s (1978) analysis and were considered, by the authors, to be reasonably comprehensible to an Australian population. The authors of this study concluded that although the Australian factor loadings for individual items were often lower than those reported in the British study, the pattern of loadings was similar to the British results.

Cruickshank (1984), on the other hand, failed to replicate the factor structure reported by the authors of the SACL. Analysis of her data, collected from 189 British subjects, yielded monopolar rather than bipolar factors. She argued, consistent with Meddis (1969, 1972) that this was predetermined by the

asymmetrical response format.

Cruickshank (1984) had other criticisms of the SACL in addition to the asymmetry of the response scale. Another problem with the response scale according to Cruickshank is the "?" option; this response category is difficult to interpret because subjects may use it to indicate either that they do not understand the adjective or that they cannot decide if it applies to them or not. It could be that two responses to denote two different reactions to the adjective might change the factor structure. A final criticism offered by Cruickshank is that the stress and arousal scales offer an unequal number of positively and negatively keyed adjectives.

The first point Cox and Mackay (in press) make in defending their check list and factor analytical results is that Cruickshank (1984) did not use the authors' (1978) version of the SACL. Cruickshank included all 45 adjectives used in Mackay et al.'s (1978) initial study rather than the 30-item test which is now considered the SACL. Addressing the criticism of scale imbalance, Cox and Mackay suggest that the difference in number between positive and negative adjectives for each of the scales is trivial. There are ten positive and eight negative stress adjectives, and seven positive and five negative arousal adjectives in the current 30-item SACL. Cortainly, there is no evidence that the asymmetry of positively and negatively keyed items diminishes the reliability or the validity of the test or that it changes the factor structure of the test. With

respect to the symmetry of the response scale. Ox and Mackay state that while Cruickshank suggested symmetrical scales are preferable, there is ongoing debate as to the advantages of a symmetrical scale (Jahoda & Warren, 1966).

Bohlin and Kjellberg (1973) argue, for example, that the experience of mood is not symmetrical; the strength of feeling as described by an adjective runs from its absence to maximum intensity. The inclusion of several rejection categories in a response scale to balance the acceptable categories implies a grading of the absence of a feeling. If a respondent wants to indicate that an adjective is "not much like them" as opposed to "not at all like them," the proper response might be "+" rather than "-."

In regards to the "?" response, Cox and Mackay (in press) write that in all but the earliest version of the check list, deliberate emphasis has been placed on the response indicating "cannot decide" rather than "not clear." Indeed the authors have laboured to select words which are relatively simple and easy to understand. While Cruickshank's analysis of data collected from British subjects did not produce bipolar factors. Cox (personal communication, May, 1986) has confirmed their original finding of bipolar factors after collecting and analyzing new data from a British sample.

Check List of Arousal and Stress (CLAS).

Mackay et al. (1978) have provided "alternate" forms of the SACL which they labelled A, B, C, and D. However, these forms differ from one another only with

respect to the order in which the adjectives are presented, the same 30 words appearing in each form. Mackay et al. did not provide a true alternate form of the SACL which contains different adjectives. Anastasi (1982) has stated that alternate forms of tests are of considerable value and are useful in follow-up studies or investigations of effects of some intervening experimental factor on test performance. A subject, given the same form of a test more than once, may provide the same responses to items through memory rather than because the subject is in the same state. Utilizing an alternate form eliminates this problem and underscores the value of developing a true alternate form.

In constructing the alternate form of the SACL, the Check List of Arousal and Stress (CLAS) criticisms regarding the difficulty of the SACL adjectives were addressed. After giving the SACL to 189 subjects in an out-patient facility, Cruickshank (1982, 1984) found that she was frequently asked for explanations of the items. She was concerned that this situation could result in subjects ending up with low stress scores because "not clear or cannot decide" responses are scored identically to "definitely do not feel" responses. King, Burrows and Stanley (1983) simply eliminated those adjectives which they understood to be difficult. Unfortunately, reducing the number of adjectives to a total of 20 for the two scales jeopardized the reliability and validity of the test. To ensure that the items composing the CLAS were easy to interpret and that complex emotional states were well represented, the single-word adjectives which appear in the SACL were replaced with short, simple phrases.

Check List of Arousal, Stress and Power (CLASP).

The Check List of Arousal, Stress and Power (CLASP) was developed after a literature review indicated that a scalemeasuring three factors might better measure stress and mood state than two factor tests (Lazarus, 1976; McGrath, 1976; Russell & Mehrabian, 1977; Cox, 1978). To accomplish this end, a 15-item power scale was constructed Again, to facilitate comprehension of the items, short phrases were used rather than single adjectives. When the 15 power scale items are combined with the items found in the CLAS the result is the CLASP, a 45-item, three factor measure of stress.

Factor analysis: A brief review.

The present study set three goals: (a) the SACL was administered to a Canadian population and the responses were factor analyzed and the results compared with those reported by Mackay et al. (1978); (b) the development of an alternate form of the SACL, the OLAS; and (c) the construction of a scale for measuring a third factor, power, which, when combined with the CLAS would provide a three factor measure of stress, the CLASP. Given that factor analysis was so integral a part of this study, a brief presentation on it is provided below.

According to Norusis (1985) and Kim and Mueller (1978a, 1978b), underlying dimensions or factors, are useful in explaining complex phenomena like stress.

Observed correlations among measures of specific variables relating to the

phenomena result from these variables reflecting the same factors. Norusis offers, as an example, the fact that correlations among test scores can be attributed to such shared factors as general intelligence, abstract reasoning skill, and reading comprehension. The goal of factor analysis, then, is to identify the not-directly observable factors by examining the pattern of correlations among variables and deciding what common abstract factor the variables reflect. In the case of the present study the intent was to determine which factors underlie the mood check list items and, more generally, which factors underlie stress.

Factor analysis generally proceeds in three steps (Norusis, 1985). First, the correlation matrix for all of the measured variables is computed. Second, the number of factors needed to mathematically represent the data are extracted. Third, the factor loadings are rotated to achieve a simple factor structure.

There are several procedures for determining the number of factors which should be extracted. One criterion suggests that only factors which have eigenvalues greater than one, should be considered. Another procedure considers the cumulative percent of variance accounted for by the factors; it stipulates that only that number of factors required to account for 60 percent of the variance should be extracted. A third criterion involves a plot of the total variance associated with each factor. Typically, this plot shows a distinct break between the factors which account for a large percentage of the variance and

the rest. This trailing off in the slope of percentages of variance accounted for after the "large" factors has been labelled the scree and experimental evidence indicates that the scree begins after the factor which represents the last of the "true" factors.

The principal components method of factor extraction is commonly employed and was used in the study by Mackay et al. (1978). Norusis (1985, p. 130) provides the following description of such an analysis:

In principal components analysis, linear combinations of the observed variables are formed. The first principal component accounts for the largest amount of variance in the sample. The second principal component accounts for the next largest amount of variance and is uncorrelated with the first. Successive components explain progressively smaller portions of the total sample variance, and all are uncorrelated with each other.

Thus, principal components analyses are used whenever uncorrelated linear combinations of the observed variables are desired.

The third phase of factor analysis, the rotation phase, attempts to achieve a simple structure, each factor having maximal loadings for some variables and minimal loadings for the remainder. While rotation does not alter the communalities and the percentage of total variance explained, the percentage of variance accounted for by each factor does, however, change. Rotation redistributes the explained variance for the individual factors. Different rotation

methods, therefore, might actually result in the identification of somewhat different factors.

The varimax method is the most commonly used method of orthogonal rotation of factors (Norusis, 1985). Orthogonal rotation is defined by Kim and Mueller (1978b, p. 85) as "the operation through which is simple structure is sought under the restriction that factors be orthogonal or uncorrelated. Factors which are obtained through this rotation are by definition uncorrelated." The varimax rotation attempts to minimize the number of variables which have high loadings on multiple factors, thereby enhancing the interpretability of factors.

Overview .

The goals of the present experiment were threefold. First, results from the factor analysis of data collected through the administration of the SACL, a measure of stress and arousal, to a Canadian population were to be compared to those reported by its authors, Mackay et al. (1978). Secondly, an alternate form of the SACL, The Check List of Arousal and Stress (CLAS), was to be developed and its reliability demonstrated. Finally, a new scale to measure a third and independent factor, power, was to be developed. The combination of this third scale with the CLAS items would provide a three factor measure of stress, the Check List of Arousal, Stress and Power (CLASP). In aid of these goals, subjects were administered three check lists: (a) the SACL; (b) the alternate form of the SACL developed by the author, the CLAS; and (c) a power scale, also developed by the author to measure a power or strength/weakness factor.

First, a pilot study was carried out to help select the items for the CLAS and the power scale. Two check lists were administered to 88 undergraduate subjects. The pilot-study CLAS offered 39 items (see Appendix B) and the pilot-study power scale (see Appendix C) offered 31 items. After factor analysis, the 30 CLAS items which showed the highest factor loadings on the appropriate factors were selected and the remaining nine dropped. Again, after factor analysis, the 15 power items which showed the highest loadings on two

monopolar factors of power were retained and the remaining 16 deleted. In this manner, the 30-item CLAS and the 15-item power scale were developed.

#### Subjects

Three hundred and ninety four undergraduate psychology students participated as subjects in this study. Three hundred and sixty four of these subjects were freshmen while the remaining 30 were juniors. Two hundred and forty six of the subjects received credit; a small bonus in their course grade, for their participation in this study while the other 148 did not. Two hundred and five of these subjects were female, 165 were male; 24 of the participants did not indicate gender. The average age of the subjects was 20.4 years.

#### Test Materials

Three check lists were used: the SACL, the CLAS, and the power scale. The SACL, a measure of the experience or the feeling of stress, provides scores for two independent factors, stress and arousal (see Appendix D). It consists of a total of 30 adjectives, 18 of which comprise the stress scale and 12 comprise the arousal scale. Ten of the 18 stress adjectives are described as high stress words while the remaining eight are low stress adjectives. There are seven high arousal adjectives and five low arousal words.

The CLAS, an alternate form of the SACL and a measure of stress, consists of short phrases rather than single adjectives (see Appendix E). The phrases

which compose the CLAS were written by the author after consulting with colleagues, and checking a dictionary (*Webster's New Collegiate*, 1977) and a thesarus (*Roget's II*, 1980). Phrases were substituted for single adjectives in an effort to make the alternate form of the SACL easier for subjects to understand. For example, rather than replace the SACL's "dejected" with another difficult adjective like "disheartened," "heavy-hearted" was used. A second reason for using phrases rather than single adjectives is their greater potential for conveying information. When a phrase is employed instead of a single word a more precise feeling may be expressed. For example, a single SACL adjective, "worried" captures only the feeling of high stress whereas the CLAS item, "carrying the weight of the world" conveys not only a feeling of stress but also suggests a state of inactivity or low arousal.

While phrases have replaced single words in the CLAS, this form offers, overall, the same number of items as the SACL. Furthermore, the number of high stress items, low stress items, high arousal items, and low arousal items are identical to the number found in the original check list. The order of presentation of the items composing the CLAS is also consistent with that found within the SACL. For example, when developing the CLAS the high stress phrase, "on edge," takes the place of the high stress adjective, "jittery."

Like the CLAS, the power scale is comprised of short phrases (see Appendix F). Eight of the phrases were intended to be high power or strength items while

the remaining seven represented low power or weakness. While this scale was administered separately from the CLAS, responses to it were combined with the CLAS. This three factor, stress, arousal, power, measure of stress was entitled the CLASP.

To avoid the possibility that the factor analytical results depend on the particular order of presentation of items used in the study, a second form was developed for each of the three check lists, the SACL (see Appendix G), the CLAS (see Appendix H), and the power scale (see Appendix I). The two forms of the check lists differed only in the order of presentation of the items. For both the SACL and the CLAS the second form was created by ordering items 16 to 30, one to 15 and moving items one to 15 into positions 16 to 30. The second form of the power scale was constructed by moving items in the first eight positions into the last eight positions while moving the last seven items into positions one through seven.

Printed instructions were attached to each of the check lists. The instructions provided for the SACL were identical to those developed by Mackay et al.

(1978) (see Appendix J). The instructions attached to the CLAS (see Appendix K) and the power scale (see Appendix L) were the same as those accompanying the SACL with two slight modifications. First, the term "phrase" or "phrases" was substituted on any occasion that "word" or "words" appeared in the original SACL instructions. Second, one item from the SACL, "relaxed,"

appears in the instructions in examples of the possible responses a subject may provide. For the CLAS, "on edge" replaces "relaxed" while "in control" appears in the examples for the power scale.

The instructions advised the subject to respond to each item in one of four ways: (a) if the item definitely describes how the subject feels at that moment, he is to circle the double plus which is indicated, "++"; (b) if the item is likely to apply to but is not necessarily applicable to the subject's feelings at the moment, he is to circle the single plus mark "+"; (c) if the item is not clear to the subject or he cannot decide whether or not it applies to his feelings at the moment, he is to circle the question mark "?"; and (d) if the subject decides that the item does not apply to his feelings at the moment, he is to circle the minus sign "-"

In addition to these written instructions, subjects also received brief oral instructions before being given the check lists. Subjects were told they were about to receive three short check lists and were asked to complete them in the order in which they were presented. Subjects were also instructed to respond to every item on each of the check lists. Finally, each subject was asked to indicate his or her age and gender on the top of the first page.

### Procedure

The original SACL, the CLAS, and the power scale were administered to groups of subjects. Half, or 197, of the subjects received the SACL first and then

completed the CLAS, while the other half were administered the check lists in the reverse order. The power scale was administered last to all subjects. One hundred and ninety eight subjects received check lists with the original order of presentation of items (Mackay et al., 1978) while the remaining 196 subjects received the check lists with the alternate ordering of items.

The time required for administration of the three check lists was approximately fifteen minutes, including instructions, completion, and handling of the check lists.

#### Results

The data were the responses to the three check lists, the SACL, CLAS and CLASP. Data from check lists with missing responses were not used in the analyses. (a) there was one incomplete SACL yielding a sample of 393; (b) there were two incomplete CLAS check lists providing a sample of 392; and (c) there was one incomplete power scale which, in combination with the completed CLAS check lists, provided a sample of 391 CLASPs.

Each data set was factor analyzed. The number of factors extracted by principal components was determined by the Kaiser criterion which includes only those factors which have eigenvalues greater than one. Once extracted, these factors were submitted to varimax rotation.

### Factor Analysis of SACL Data

The results of the factor analysis of the SACL data collected from 393 subjects is presented in Table 1. In addition, Table 1 compares these results with the findings of Mackay et al. (1978).

Four monopolar factors, which accounted for 56 percent of the variance of SACL responses were extracted. Factor 1 was labelled high stress, Factor 2, high arousal, Factor 3, low stress, and Factor 4, low arousal. As reported in Table 1, Mackay et al. (1978) obtained two bipolar factors: stress as Factor 1 and arousal as Factor 2. The fact that Mackay's analysis yielded bipolar factors while

the present analysis provided monopolar factors accounts for both the difference in the number of factors extracted and the difference in the sign of the loadings for some of the items. In Mackay's analysis, high stress and low stress adjectives loaded on the same factor as did high arousal and low arousal items. High stress and high arousal items have positive loadings on their respective factors while low stress and low arousal words show negative loadings on the tress and arousal factors, respectively. In the present study high stress and low stress items showed high positive loadings on separate factors and did not show high negative loadings on any factor. Similarly, high arousal and low arousal adjectives showed high positive loadings on two separate factors.

TABLE 1
Factor Loadings of SACL Items

SACL Adjective	Mackay et al's Loadings	Factor	Present Loadings	Factor
tense	0.75	1	0.81	1
worried	0.69	. 1	0.75	1
apprehensive	0.54	1	0.58	1 .
bothered	0.71	1	0.63	. 1
uneasy	0.72	. <b>1</b>	0.78	1
dejected	0.59	1	0.57	1
uptight	0.70	1	0.76	1
jittery	0.64	1 1	0.72	1
nervous	0.64	1	0.75	1 -
distressed	0.73	1	0.72	i
o		•		
peaceful	-0.68	1 **	0.71	3
relaxed	`-`0.77	1	0.61	3
cheerful	-0.64	· . 1	0.66	. 3
contented	-0.73	1	. 0.55	. 3 <sup>°</sup>
pleasant	-0.68	1	0.74	્ં 3
comfortable	-0.56	1 '	0.60	. 3
calm	-0.68	, 1	0.43	3
restful -	-0.55	1	0.32	3
*	•		•	
active	0.71	. 2	0.67	2
energetic	0.75	2 2	0.73	2
vigorous	0.69	2	0.84	2
alert	0.63	2	0.40	2
lively	0.77	2 2 2	0.73	2 2 2 2 2 2
activated	0.66	2	0.76	2
stimulated	0.60	2	<b>/</b> 0.59 ·	. 2

drowsy	-0.71	2	0.77	. 4
tired	-0.61	2	0.80	. 4
idle	-0.54	2	0.11	- 4
sluggish	-0.65	2	0.59	. 4
sleepy	-0.75	2	0,85	. 4

Factor loadings for individual items showed small differences in the two studies

Mean factor loadings proved even more consistent and are presented in

Table 2.

TABLE 2

Mean Factor Loadings of the High Stress, Low Stress, High

Arousal, and Low Arousal Items of the SACL

			**
Factor	Mackay et al.	Present	
. <del></del>			
High Stress	0.67	. 0.71	
Low Stress	0.66	0.58	
High Arousal	0.69	0.67	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Low Arousal	0.65	0.62	
•		3 <sub>44</sub>	

Mackay et al's two bipolar factors stress and arousal, have been divided into four parts, that is, high stress adjectives, low stress adjectives, high arousal adjectives and low arousal adjectives, to facilitate the comparison with the monopolar factors reported in the present study.

In their study, Mackay et al. (1978) set a factor loading of 0.40 as the minimum loading for an adjective to be included in the scale measuring that factor. In the current study, two of the items failed to meet this criterion: "restful" showed no

factor loadings higher than 0.32; "idle" did not load appropriately on any of the four factors although it did show a high loading, 0.76, on a fifth factor which was not interpreted since it was considered a statistically trivial factor. According to Gorsuch (1974), factors which do not have at least two or three high loadings by items which show high loadings on that factor only, are poorly defined and should not be interpreted.

## Factor Analysis of CLAS Data

Results of the factor analysis of the CLAS data collected from 392 subjects are presented in Table 3. Again, four monopolar factors, accounting for 53 percent of the variance of responses to the CLAS were extracted: Factor 1 was labelled high stress, Factor 2, high arousal, Factor 3, low arousal, and Factor 4, low stress.

TABLE 3 Factor Loadings of the CLAS and CLASP Items

Phrase	CLAS Loading	Factor	CLASP Loading	Factor
under a great strain	0.78		0.69	`2
in a panic	0.72	1	0:70	2
on edge	0.71	4	0.72	2 2 2
a bundle of nerves	0.69	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	0.71	2
carrying the weight of		•		*
the world	0.65	1	0.62	5
in over my head	0.65	1 .	0.54	. 2
down in the dumps	0.61		0.63	2 2 2
at the end of my rope	0.59	<b>1.</b>	0.56	. 2 .
a lot on my mind	0.52	. 1	0.40	- 2 2
heavy-hearted	0.28	1	0.22	. 2
full of energy	0.85	2	0.80	3
full of pep	0.82		0.77	
full of life	0.78	2 2	0.74	3 3 3
full of vim and vigor	0.78	2	0.81	, <b>3</b> `
raring to go	0.59	2 2 2	0.81	3
wide awake	0.59		0.40	ેં 3
excited by life	0.24	2	0.21	<u>*</u> 3
wound down	0.65	3 .	0.46	4
really tired	0.60	3	0.81	4
worn-out	0.55	. 3 .	0.68	-1 🕶 4
no get-up-and-go	0.51	3	0.51	4:1
half asleep	- 0.49	3	0.76	4
easy-going	0.70	4	0.68	6
light-hearted	0.70	4	0.71	.6
happy-go-lucky	0.64	• 4	0.60	. 6
taking it easy	0.55	4	0.48	. 6
ot nonno	0.54	4	0.48	6
at peace		<del>4</del> 1 →	0.48	6.
satisfied with life	0.25 0.18	4 4 5	0.18	. 6
even-tempered life is good	0.16	4 5	0.16	6

self-confident	· >	; · ~	0.77	· . 1
sure of myself	,		0.76	1.
self-assured			0.73	1
able to hold my own	·	<del></del>	0.71	1
in control	·	`	0.68	1 -
on top of things		•	0.65	. 1
likely to succeed	·	<u> </u>	0.64	1
a go-getter			0.60	1
going no where fast	, <u>, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , </u>	<u> </u>	0.68	5
not making any progress		<del></del> ; .	0.60	· 5
like a failure	,		0.58	5
can't make up my mind -		· . · · ·	0.40	5
unsure of myself			0.33	5.
like a lightweight		44	0.08	. 5
meek and mild	· ,		06	5

The mean factor loading for the high stress factor was 0.62, 0.46 for the low stress factor, 0.69 for the high arousal factor, and 0.56 for the low arousal factor. A comparison of the average factor loadings of CLAS items with the SACL items, either those reported by Mackay et al. (1978) or those reported in the present study, reveals lower factor loadings for the CLAS items.

Four of the items comprising the alternate form of the SACL; the CLAS, falled to reach the loading cut-off criterion of 0.40 set by Mackay et al. (1978). "Excited by life" showed a 0.24 loading on Factor 2, high arousal, while "satisfied with life" and "life is good" showed 0.25 and 0.15 loadings, respectively, on Factor 4, low stress. These three phrases, "excited by life", "satisfied with life", and "life is good" did load highly on a fifth factor, with loadings of 0.77, 0.68, and 0.82, respectively. "Even-tempered," included to reflect low stress, showed a loading of 0.18 on Factor 4, the low stress factor, but did show a loading of 0.81 on Factor 6. As this was the single high loading for this factor, it was not interpreted. "Heavy-hearted" was intended to reflect high stress but the factor analytical results indicate that subjects responded to this phrase in the same way as low arousal items. "Heavy-hearted" showed a loading of 0.68 on the low arousal factor and only 0.28 on the high stress factor. Overall, the results indicate that five new phrases should be substituted for these five phrases which do not, apparently, clearly reflect the factors they were intended to measure.

# Factor Analysis of CLASP Data

The factor loadings for the analysis of the combined CLAS and power scale or CLASP data are displayed in Table 3. This data was collected from 391 subjects. Six monopolar factors, which accounted for 53 percent of the variance, were extracted in the following order: Factor 1 was labelled high power, Factor 2, high stress, Factor 3, high arousal, Factor 4, low arousal, Factor 5, low power, and Factor 6, low stress.

Table 3 shows the changes in the factor loadings of the CLAS items when additional items, power scale items, were included in the analysis. While this difference is readily apparent for individual check list items, the mean loadings of items, displayed in Table 4, for each of the stress and arousal factors are similar whether or not power items are included in the analysis.

Mean Factor Loadings of the High Stress, Low Stress, High
Arousal and Low Arousal Items of the CLAS and CLASP

Factor	CLAS	CLASP		· · · · ·
	· <del></del>			
High Stress	0.62	0.58	•	
Low Stress	0.46	0.44		
Hìgh Arousal	0.69	0.65		
Low Arousal	0.56	0.64		

Seven of the items comprising the 45-item CLASP did not meet Mackay et al's 0.40 loading cut-off criterion on any factor or on appropriate factors: As reported above, four of these items failed to meet this same criterion when the CLAS data were analyzed alone. "Meek and mild" and "unsure of myself" did not load highly on any of the factors. Should additional CLASP factors be interpreted? High factor loadings on a seventh factor were found for "excited by life," 0.72, "satisfied with life," 0.66, and "life is good," 0.76. "Like a lightweight" showed a high loading, 0.78, on the eighth factor which was the only loading of any magnitude for this factor while the same was true for "even-tempered," which loaded highly, 0.77, on Factor 10. Again, these factors were judged to be trivial and were not interpreted.

The CLASP results indicate that the seven items discussed above need to be replaced with more appropriate phrases: a high arousal item should be substituted for "excited by life," three low stress phrases should be substituted for "satisfied with life," "life is good," and "even-tempered," and finally, three low power items should be substituted for "like a lightweight," "meek and mild," and "unsure of myself." Also, the factor analysis revealed that "heavy-hearted," showing only a 0.22 loading on the high stress factor, is not a high stress phrase. Instead "heavy-hearted" seems to be a low power phrase showing a loading of 0.48 on the low power factor. This means that this item could be used in place of one of the three items, intended to be low power items but which

failed to show high loadings on the low power factor. At the same time, a high stress phrase is required to replace "heavy-hearted."

### Reliability Coefficients for the Scales

Scales for measuring stress and arousal by the CLAS and CLASP were developed to be parallel to the SACL. The high stress and low stress items were combined to form a stress scale, and the high arousal and low arousal items were combined to form an arousal scale. The high power and low power items were combined to form a power scale. Cronbach's Alpha was calculated for the stress and arousal scales of the SACL, the stress and arousal scales of the CLASP. After scoring each of the check lists, the responses were analyzed by estimating the consistency of responses to items comprising each of the scales. The reliability coefficients for the scales of the SACL, CLAS, and CLASP are shown in Table 5.

TABLE 5

Reliability Coefficients for the Stress and Arousal Scales of the SACL, CLAS, and CLASP and the CLASP Power Scale

			*	
Scale	SACL	CLAS	CLASP	
,	• • •			•
Stress	0.88* ₩	0.84*	Q.84*	,
Arousal	0.86*	0.86*	0.86*	•
Power		· <del></del> .	0.82*	•
	•			

<sup>\*</sup> denotes significance at the .001 level

# Pearson Product-Moment Correlation Coefficients

To demonstrate that the CLAS is an alternate form of the SACL, Pearson product-moment correlation coefficients between responses by subjects to the SACL items and the CLAS items were calculated. These significant coefficients, which are presented below in Table 6, indicate that the SACL and the CLAS measure the same variables and are alternate forms of each other.

Pearson Product-Moment Correlation Coefficients Calculated Between
Responses to the Items Comprising the Stress and Arousal Scales
of the SACL and the CLAS

Scale		Coefficient		,
Stress		0.79*		
Arousal	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	0.81*	•	· · ·

denotes significance at the .001 level

## Summary of Results

Mackay et al.'s (1978) finding of two bipolar factors was not replicated in this study. Rather, the analysis of the present SACL data indicated four monopolar factors: Factor 1 was labelled high stress, Factor 2, high arousal, Factor 3, low stress, and Factor 4, low arousal. Consistent with the results of the SACL analysis, analysis of the CLAS data, an alternate form of the SACL, also yielded the same four monopolar factors. Four of the items written for this new check list failed to show appropriate loadings on the factors and should, therefore, be replaced. Consistent with the findings for the SACL and the CLAS, analysis of the CLASP data also revealed monopolar factors: Factor 1 was labelled high power, Factor 2, high stress, Factor 3, high arousal, Factor 4, low arousal, Factor

5, low power, and Factor 6, low stress. Seven of the phrases written for the CLASP failed to show appropriate loadings on the factors and, therefore, new phrases should be substituted in their place.

Cronbach's alpha was calculated for the stress and arousal scales of the SACL, the stress and arousal scales of the CLAS, and the stress, arousal and power scales of the CLASP. All of the coefficients were significant, indicating internal consistency. Finally, significant Pearson product-moment correlation coefficients were calculated between subject scores on the stress and arousal scales of the SACL and the CLAS, indicating that the CLAS is an alternate form of the SACL.

The goals of the study were threefold: (a) replicating Mackay et al.'s (1978) SACL factor analytical results; (b) the development of an alternate version of the SACL, the CLAS; and (c) the development of a three factor measure of stress, the CLASP.

First, the likelihood of replicating Mackay et al.'s (1978) factor analytical results will be considered with respect to size of the communalities of the variables, the number of high loading variables per factor, and number of subjects per analysis.

The polarity of the SACL factors will then be discussed. The differences between the loadings for SACL items in the Mackay et al. (1978) study and the current study will also be examined. An appropriate cut-off point for significant factor loadings will be suggested next. The number of factors which should be interpreted from among all of those extracted during the analysis of SACL data will be considered.

The polarity of the CLAS factors will be considered as well as those CLAS items which failed to load highly on the appropriate factors. The number of factors that should be interpreted from among all of the factors extracted during the analysis of the CLAS data will be discussed. The order in which the factors of the SACL and the CLAS were extracted will then be presented.

The polarity of the CLASP factors will be considered as well as the low loading CLASP items. Again, the number of factors that need be interpreted for the CLASP data will be discussed as will the order in which these factors were extracted.

The reliability of the CLAS will be discussed before turning to a discussion of the three factor model of stress including implications for assessment and treatment. Ideas for future research will then be presented before concluding with a brief summary.

## Replicability of the SACL

A series of factor analytical studies of English subjects by Mackay et al. (1978) led to the development of the SACL which provides scores for two independent factors, stress and arousal. The first objective in the present study was to determine whether the same factors of stress and arousal would be found in a Canadian sample of responses to the same test. The SACL was administered to a Canadian sample of 393 students and the data factor analyzed. The present analysis yielded four monopolar factors, high stress, low stress, high arousal, and low arousal rather than the two bipolar factors, stress and arousal produced by Mackay et al.'s analysis although the factor loadings for the adjectives in the two studies were similar.

Size of communalities and replicability.

Gorsuch (1974, p. 292) defines replication in factor analysis as "the finding of the same factors across random samples." The parameters which determine the likelihood of replicability include accuracy of measurement, the strength of the phenomena, the number of variables, and the number of individuals on which the statistic is based. The accuracy of measurement and the strength of the phenomena may be ascertained in factor analysis by examining the communalities of the variables. The communality of a variable is the proportion of its variance accounted for by the common factors (Kim & Mueller, 1978a). According to Gorsuch, communalities indicate how well the data fit the model. High communalities suggest that the model is appropriate while low communalities imply the model is less appropriate and would not replicate as well. Gorsuch cites studies which found that not only factors but also factor loadings became more stable and replicable as the communalities increased. Since Mackay et al.'s (1978) factor analytical results were not presented in great detail the size of the communalities of the variables is not known. The communalities for most of the variables in the present study are at least moderately high, at 0.6, which suggests that these results are replicable.

· High-loading variables and replicability.

Gorsuch (1974) states that the strength of a factor is also iffluenced by the number of salient variables loading on that factor. It would appear that it is difficult to replicate factors which contain fewer than five or six high-loading

variables. Replication should generally be attempted only when there are at least four salient variables per factor. Mackay et al.'s (1978) study met this condition with 18 variables loading significantly on the stress factor and 12 variables on the arousal factor. According to Gorsuch, however, Mackay et al. failed to meet the final condition which concerns the number of subjects on which the analysis is based.

### Number of subjects and replicability.

It appears that the greater the number of subjects the better the chance that there will be replicability of factors. Gorsuch (1974) admits that there is not yet any standard ratio of the number of subjects to variables but suggests that the absolute minimum ratio is five individuals to every variable and not less than one hundred subjects for any analysis. Cliff (1970) found that the number of subjects influenced the number of factors which could be identified in an analysis. He factored 12 and 20 variables in a Monte Carlo study and found four factors to be recoverable, when there were 600 subjects, but only two to three were identifiable with 200 subjects. Mackay et al. (1978), in administering 45 adjectives to 145 subjects in their initial study, failed to meet the minimum ratio of five individuals to every variable. In a subsequent analysis, Mackay et al. administered 34 of these adjectives to 72 subjects and, therefore, not only failed to meet the subject to variable ratio but also the stipulation that there must be at least 100 individuals for any analysis. Given the fact that Mackay et al. did not use a sufficient number of subjects and considering Cliff's findings, one might

wonder whether the SACL results would have been the same had Mackay et al. used a larger sample. The results from the present study with its larger sample size suggest that the results would indeed have been the same. With the exception of finding monopolar rather than bipolar factors, the results obtained here were very similar to those obtained by Mackay et al.

Factors and Factor Loadings of the SACL

The polarity of the SACL factors.

The critical difference between the present findings and those reported by Mackay et al. (1978) is the polarity of factors. In the present study monopolar factors were obtained while Mackay et al. found bipolar factors. While Nowlis (1970) believes that mood states once considered to be mutually exclusive actually vary independently of each other and may be present in the same individual at the same time, Meddis (1972) argues that this model is at odds with common sense. He would suggest that the finding of monopolar factors for the SACL, such as those obtained here, was determined by the asymmetrical response scale used. As stated above, the response scale is asymmetrical, because it contains two categories of acceptance but only one of rejection. When Meddis (1969) employed symmetrical scales, he found mood factors which were clearly bipolar. But, when he utilized an asymmetrical response scales were used in the present study, it could be that this accounts for the finding of four monopolar factors in this study.

After considering Meddis' argument, it was decided that the data collected in this study should be recoded and made symmetrical. The data was recoded by scoring both the "++" and "+" responses as two, while the "?" and "-" responses remained as they had been scored as one and zero, respectively. The result was a symmetrical scoring system, with one score for agreeing the item was a description of oneself, one score for uncertainty and one score for rejection of the adjective as self-descriptive. Again, the factor analysis yielded monopolar factors. Different results may have been obtained, however, had the response format been altered at the time of, rather than, after, data collection.

Even if Meddis' (1972) contention concerning asymmetry and polarity is true, it does not provide any explanation as to why the results from the present study differ, with respect to the polarity of factors, from Mackay et al.'s (1978) findings. Mackay et al. used the identical response format and commented that "it is interesting to note that in the present study bipolar rather than monopolar factors emerged even when an asymmetrical scale was used" (p. 284). Cox has suggested that the reason for the discrepancy between the present findings and their results has to do with some inherent difference between British and Canadian subjects (Cox, personal communication, May, 1986).

Low-loading SACL items.

While the polarity of the factor stucture of the SACL reported by Mackay et al. (1978) was not replicated in this study, the factor loadings of the variables in the

two studies were strikingly similar. Only two adjectives proved exceptions to this general finding, "restful" and "idle." Mackay et al. set a factor loading of 0.40 as the criterion by which adjectives were to be retained or dropped from the test, any adjective with a loading below 0.40 on either the stress or arousal factors was eliminated. In the present study, "restful" showed a 0.32 loading on the appropriate, low stress, factor while "idle" had only a 0.11 loading on the low arousal factor. These findings are consistent with one study which tried to replicate Mackay et al. 's findings. Cruickshank (1984) reported that "restful" had a 0.60 loading on the low stress factor but found that "idle" failed to load significantly on any of the factors. But, it should be noted that Cruickshank administered the 45 item pilot SACL which Mackay et al. eventually used to create the 30 item SACL. It was the data of this test, not the 45 item version, which Mackay et al. reported. One study did replicate the finding of appropriate loadings for these items. McCormick, Walkey and Taylor (1985) did report similar loadings for the two items on the appropriate factors.

#### The factor loading cut-off point.

While it is the case that two items failed to meet the factor loading criterion set by Mackay et al. (1978), one of them did show a significant loading on the appropriate factor. Gorsuch (1974) and Hair, Anderson, Tatham and Grablowsky (1979) have suggested that an absolute value of 0.30 represents a significant (p <.05) loading. Indeed, Mackay et al. (1978) offered no explanation for their choice of the 0.40 cut-off point in their brief paper. Perhaps Mackay et al. chose

.

the 0.40 criterion because of their small sample size. Indeed, Gorsuch cautions, that in order for loadings as low as 0.30 to be significant, a minimum number of 1.75 subjects would be necessary while an absolute value of 0.40 would be an appropriate criterion for a sample size of 100. Since the size of the sample in the present study is sufficient to adopt a criterion of 0.30 rather than 0.40, one can argue that the 0.32 loading for "restful" is significant and retain the item on the stress scale. This adjective seems appropriate, then, for a Canadian culture. "Idle," however, would still fail to reach the criterion on the intended factor and may not be useful for use on a scale measuring arousal within a Canadian culture.

Number of factors to be interpreted for SACL data.

Although "idle" did not load highly on the expected factor, it did so on a fifth factor, 0.76, which had an eigenvalue greater than one and was, therefore, extracted by the factor analysis in the present study. Since "idle" was the only variable with a factor loading of any magnitude on this fifth factor Gorsuch (1974) would label the fifth factor a trivial one. "Trivial factors are... factors which do not have at least two or three loadings above a certain specified level...but it might better be defined as those factors without a unique set of defining variables (p. 156). According to him, a second point to consider when deciding how many of the factors should be interpreted is the increased variance which is accounted for when an additional factor is extracted. This fifth factor only accounted for an additional 3.6 percent of the variance. Finally, the cost of interpreting another

factor consists of increased complexity of factor structure and greater difficulty in replicating such results. It would seem that there is little advantage and considerable disadvantage in interpreting five rather than the four factors extracted during the factor analysis of the SACL data.

Factors and Factor Loadings of CLAS Items

The polarity of the CLAS factors:

The second objective of this thesis was the development of an alternate and parallel version of the SACL, the CLAS. The CLAS was intended to be a two component measure of stress providing scores for two independent factors, stress and arousal. The CLAS, which consists of short phrases rather than single adjectives, was administered to 392 subjects and the data factor analyzed. Again, similar to the SACL results four monopolar factors, high stress, low stress, high arousal and low arousal, emerged instead of bipolar factors of stress and arousal.

Low-loading CLAS items.

Four of the items composing the CLAS failed to reach Mackay et al.'s 0.40 criterion for loading on a factor, nor would any of these items meet the criterion of 0.30 suggested by Gorsuch (1974). "Excited by life" had a loading of only 0.24 on the high arousal factor, while "satisfied with life," "even-tempered," and "life is good" had factor loadings of 0.25, 0.18, and 0.15, respectively, on the low stress factor. These four items should be removed from the check list and replaced with

phrases which show higher loadings on the appropriate factors.

"Heavy-hearted," written to reflect high stress, showed a loading of only 0.28 on the high stress factor but did load significantly, 0.68, on the low arousal factor.

One item is needed to replace "heavy-hearted" on the stress scale of the CLAS.

Number of factors to be interpreted for CLAS data.

Six factors, having eigenvalues greater than one, were extracted during the analysis of the CLAS data. Again, the additional factors were closely examined to determine whether or not they should be interpreted. The "life" phrases, excited by life," "satisfied with life," and "life is good," all loaded significantly on the fifth factor with loadings of 0.77, 0.68, and 0.82, respectively. But these variables were the only ones which loaded significantly on this fifth factor. Unlike the fifth factor extracted for the SACL data, this factor cannot be considered trivial since it contains three salient loadings by variables which load highly only on it and it did account for 4.1 percent of the variance. Should we interpret this factor as an additional stress factor? A content analysis of the phrases loading highly on this fifth factor would indicate that the factor reflects low stress or high arousal which are already represented by factors 4 and 2, respectively. While it is not clear why these items did not load significantly on the low stress and higharousal factors, these items do not seem to identify a new factor and for this reason one might choose not to include this factor. In addition, a satisfaction with life factor has not been identified by researchers in the area of mood factors

(Nowlis & Nowlis, 1956; Green & Nowlis, 1957; Thayer, 1967; Mackay et al., 1978).

The sixth factor, accounting for 3.4 percent of the variance, can be considered trivial or poorly defined. "Even-tempered" was the sole variable to load significantly, 0.81, on this factor alone and including this factor would account for only an additional 3.4 percent of the variance.

Order of extraction of factors of the SACL and CLAS:

The order in which the CLAS factors were extracted was different than the order in which factors were extracted for the SACL. Analysis of the SACL data yielded high stress items as Factor 1, high arousal items as Factor 2, low stress items as Factor 3, and low arousal items as Factor 4. The order was slightly different for the CLAS data, high stress items loaded on the first factor and high arousal items on the second but low arousal items loaded on the third factor and low stress items on the fourth. The difference in the order of extraction between the low stress and the low arousal factors for the two check lists can be explained. In principal components analysis factors are extracted according to the amount of variance for which each accounts. The first principal component accounts for the largest amount of variance in the sample while successive factors explain progressively smaller portions of the total sample variance (Norusis, 1985). The low stress factor accounts for more of the variance than does the low arousal factor in the SACL analysis while the reverse is true for the

analysis of the CLAS data. Why is this the case? Gorsuch (1974) says that the strength of a factor is determined by the number of variables with significant loadings on that factor. In the SACL analysis the low stress factor showed seven salient loadings compared to only four on the low arousal factor. For the CLAS data, there were six variables with significant loadings on the low arousal factor, while only five had salient loadings on the low stress factor.

Factors and Factor Loadings of CLASP Items

The polarity of the CLASP factors:

The third objective of this study was the development of a three factor measure of stress, the CLASP, which would provide scores for three independent mood factors, stress, arousal and power. The CLASP, was created by combining the 30-item CLAS with a 15-item power scale, identical to the CLAS in format. Analysis of the CLASP data yielded six monopolar factors: high stress, low stress, high arousal, low arousal, high power, and low power.

Low-loading CLASP items.

Seven of the items composing the 45-item CLASP failed to reach Mackay et al.'s (1978) cut-off point of 0.40. If the 0.30 criterion suggested by Gorsuch (1974) is adopted "unsure of myself," with a loading of 0.33 on high stress, would be retained. The othersix items include: "excited by life," with a 0.21 loading on high arousal, "like a lightweight" and "meek and mild" with loadings of 0.08 and -0.06, respectively, on the low power factor, and "satisfied with life,"

"even-tempered," and "life is good" with loadings of 0.22, 0.18, and 0.15, respectively, on the low stress factor. These items should be replaced with phrases which load significantly on the appropriate factors. Although "heavy-hearted" did not show a high loading, at 0.22 on the high stress factor, it did load highly, 0.48, on the low power factor. This phrase, then, could be substituted for one of the items which failed to load significantly on the low power factor. A new high stress item should be added to complete the stress scale of the CLASP.

Number of factors to be interpreted for CLASP data.

In addition to the six factors discussed above, four factors with eigenvalues greater than one were also extracted during analysis of the CLASP data. The three "life" phrases, "excited by life," "satisfied with life," and "life is good" loaded significantly on a seventh factor which accounted for 2.6 percent of the variance with loadings of 0.71, 0.66, and 0.76, respectively. Statistically, this factor cannot be Considered trivial since it contains three salient loadings by variables which do not load highly on any other factor. Again, the question arises as to whether this factor should be interpreted and, again, the answer seems to be negative. These items do not appear to identify a new stress factor/but, rather, represent low stress or high arousal. Nor has such a factor been reported by others working in the mood factor field (Nowlis & Nowlis, 1956; Green & Nowlis, 1957; Thayer, 1967; Mackay et al., 1978).

Factors eight, nine, and ten are statistically trivial, accounting for only a small amount of variance, 2.4 percent, 2.3 percent, and 2.2 percent, respectively.

"Meek and mild" was the only item to load significantly on Factor 8 while none of the CLASP items showed significant loadings on Factor 9. "Even-tempered" was the only variable to load significantly on the tenth factor.

Order of extraction of factors of the GLASP.

As stated earlier, factors are extracted in the order of the percent of variance for which they account. The order in which the factors of the CLASP were extracted proved interesting and was as follows: high power items on Factor 1; high stress items on Factor 2, high arousal items on Factor 3, low arousal items on Factor 4, low power items on Factor 5, and low stress items on Factor 6. The newly devised high power factor accounted for the greatest amount of variance in the sample, 24.4 percent. This proves interesting from both a statistical and a theoretical viewpoint.

One might have expected the stress factor to be extracted first since this was the case for the SACL and the CLAS. But, the high stress factor accounted for only 10.2 percent of the variance whereas the high power factor accounted for 24.4 percent of the variance.

The importance of power, as a component of stress, has been well discussed in the literature. Cox (1978) has stated, for example, that stress arises when

there is an imbalance between the perceived demand and the individual's perception of his ability to meet those demands. McGrath (1976) has proposed that there is a potential for experiencing stress when a situation is perceived as presenting a demand which threatens to exceed the person's capabilities.

Lazarus (1976) has suggested that stress occurs when there are demands on the person which, he believes, exceed his resources. The empirical results of the present study confirm that, indeed, power is an important component of stress.

Reliability

Demonstrating the reliability of the CLAS was another objective of this study. According to Anastasi (1982) reliability is concerned with the consistency of scores provided for the same individuals when administered the same test on different occasions, or when given different sets of equivalent items, or when tested under variable testing conditions. It is important to estimate reliability because it allows the computation of the error of measurement of a single score, and the prediction of the range of fluctuation likely to occur in a single individual's score over time. Two different methods of estimating reliability were employed: (a) similarity in scores on the stress and arousal scales of the SACL and the CLAS was measured; and (b) internal consistency of the stress, arousal, and power scales of the CLASP was measured.

Significantly large Pearson correlation coefficients, based on subject's scores

on the stress and arousal scales of the SACL and the CLAS, demonstrated that the CLAS is, indeed, an alternate form of the SACL. Since the two forms were administered in immediate succession, the coefficients represent only the consistency of response to different item samples or test forms and are not also measures of temporal stability of these scales. These significant coefficients indicate that scores on either test are not dependent on the specific items comprising the tests.

Cronbach's alpha analyzes content homogeneity within a test. The highly significant coefficients obtained for the stress and arousal scales of the SACL, the stress and arousal scales of the CLAS, and the stress, arousal and power scales of the CLASP indicate that each of these scales was comprised of homogenous items.

In summary, the correlation coefficients observed for the data in the present study then, indicate that: (a) the items within each scale, stress, arousal and power, are homogenous, that is, the items within each scale produced similar patterns of responding; and (b) there was consistency of response to different test forms, specifically, the SACL and the CLAS.

#### A Three Factor Model of Stress

Although most interactional measures of stress provide scores reflecting only two factors, and none measure the subject's sense of power, the importance of

assessing strength or power is professed in the literature. Cox (1978), for example, maintains that stress occurs when there is an imbalance between the the perceived demand and the individual's perception of his ability to meet those demands. Cox and Mackay (1981) report that a feeling of a lack of control or powerlessness in the work place leads to the experience of stress. Similarly, McGrath (1976) has suggested and demonstrated the importance of uncertainty in stress. Clearly, when there is uncertainty as to whether the demand can be met, stress arises. Again, Lazarus (1976) has suggested that stress occurs when there are demands on the person which he believes exceed his resources, "the more people have a sense of power over the potentially harmful agent, the less vulnerable they are to threat" (p. 58).

Since the perception of one's own power seems to influence the experience of stress, this factor should be considered when assessing an individual for stress. An individual in a situation which would generally be considered as stress-inducing, for example, someone who is faced with a severe backlog of work, in actuality may not experience stress as long as that individual feels he is able to respond successfully to or cope with the situation. On the other hand, another employee, feeling incapable of mastering the tasks required of him, might experience more stress even though he faced a less "stressful" situation.

Lazarus (1976) remarks on the fact that individuals react to stressors in fundamentally different ways. Even in disasters, he writes, in which many are killed or rendered homeless and in which the whole structure of the community

is destroyed, there are still some individuals who appear comparatively undisturbed and who act in an effective fashion. In contrast, others become disorganized, dazed, and panicky. Perhaps, these various people experience the same level of stress and discomfort, but differ in power. Some, able to respond successfully, may even experience enhanced self-esteem as a result of coping and helping others.

Valuable information is lost when a test assesses only two factors, stress and arousal. The scores a respondent obtains on the power scale would provide the assessor with some indication of which situations are threatening to the individual and which he feels incapable of handling. As a result, treatment could be better tailored to suit the individual's needs.

Implications of a Three Factor Model of Stress for Assessment and Treatment

By administering the CLASP, a three factor test, to an individual the assessor could determine if the individual felt incapable of meeting demands in general, or if he experienced a loss of a sense of control only in specific situations. This could be accomplished by simply modifying the instructions and requesting the individual to indicate how he feels in specific situations. If a general inability to cope, is indicated the individual should benefit from developing more realistic appraisals of situations, building or rebuilding self-confidence, and changing attitudes and priorities (Cox, 1978). If an inability to cope in a specific situation is

indicated, specific attitudes, experience and skill may be developed. If an individual was experiencing stress on the job, then, the therapist might recommend that he seek additional training until he feels capable of performing adequately. Superiors in businesses and organizations should expect competence in their workers but, at the same time, provide some avenue for those workers who are in need of assistance. Employees who feel able to handle their positions should experience less stress and, therefore, be an asset rather than a liability to the company.

#### Ideas for Future Research

The research which is most required concerns the selection of new items for the CLAS and CLASP to replace the phrases which failed to load appropriately on the relevant factors. Particular attention should be given to the low stress and low power scales since each of these factors had three items which failed to meet the 0.40 criterion. In retrospect, it may have been judicious to administer more items than were needed to construct the test. In this way a sufficient number of items for each of the factors might have been salvaged after items which failed to load appropriately were dropped. Indeed, this was the method employed by Mackay et al. (1978) in their series of factor analytical studies.

Originally, the SACL consisted of 45 adjectives. By gradually omitting those items, with the lowest factor loadings their check list was reduced to only 30 adjectives. This was also the method employed in the pilot work of the present study; eighty-eight subjects were given 39 CLAS items and 31 power scale

Items. After factor analyzing the data those items which showed the highest factor loadings were retained to comprise the CLAS and power scale. Still; an excess number of items could have been administered to the large group in order to gain a clear picture of the value of the various items.

There would be some value in the development of a power scale consisting of single adjectives which could be combined with the SACL. This expanded SACL would, then, be an alternate form of the CLASP. While such adjectives like "strong," "driven," "powerful," "helpless," and "cautious," seem appropriate for such a scale, factor analytical studies are required to identify the appropriate items.

Another possible area for research was addressed earlier in the section and is related to Cliff's (1970) finding that the number of subjects influences the number of factors that can be identified in an analysis. According to Gorsuch (1974), Mackay et al. (1978) did not adhere to the proper ratio of subjects to variables and it was speculated that, had they used a larger sample size, a greater number of factors might have been extracted. It would be interesting, then, to administer the SACL and perhaps the CLAS and CLASP to a large British sample and analyze the data to discover how many factors would emerge. The author predicts that Mackay et al.'s findings would replicate, and the discrepancy between their findings of bipolar factors and the current findings of monopolar factors, would have to be attributed to some difference between

the two cultures sampled, the British and Canadian, rather than the fact that the British sample was small and the Canadian, large.

In addition to collecting data from a British population it would also be interesting to obtain data from other cultures; for example, from a non-Western or non-industrialized society, and to compare the results. To date the SACL has only been administered to subjects from Britain, Canada, Australia, and New Zealand while the CLAS and CLASP have only been given to Canadian subjects. Should the current findings replicate across cultures, the universal value of the check lists would be demonstrated. On the other hand it would be interesting it additional or different factors emerged when the tests were administered to other cultures. This outcome would suggest that the experience of stress differs across cultures and would add to the present understanding of stress by identifying new factors and, perhaps, discovering "new" treatments.

Another issue which warrants investigation involves the response scale of the SACL, the CLAS, and the CLASP. It would be worthwhile to replace the asymmetrical response scale with a symmetrical one, collect data from a sample similar to the one which participated in the present study, and compare the factor analytical results obtained for the two studies. If bipolar factors were extracted when a symmetrical response scale was used, Meddis' (1972) and Lorr, McNair and Fisher's (1982) theory would seem to be accurate. If, on the other hand, monopolar factors were found, one would be encouraged to imagine that, at

least some moods, are monopolar.

In addition to making the response scale symmetrical, the mood scales might be made symmetrical. Each of the scales might offer the same number of items, perhaps 20. Half of these 20 items would be positively keyed, for example, high stress items, while the remaining 10 items might be negatively keyed, for example, low stress items. In the present study, as the goal was to provide an alternate form of the SACL, the asymmetrical number of positively keyed and negatively keyed items was maintained. While longer, symmetrical scales would require more time to complete, avoiding possible problems of interpretation of scores justifies the change.

A possible limitation of the CLAS and CLASP is that they may be too Canadian or, perhaps, too North American in content to be appropriate for use in other cultures. Just as Mackay et al. (1978) found Thayer's (1967) AD-ACL "too American," the CLAS and CLASP items may prove ambiguous for subjects outside the North American culture. But, in defense of the CLAS and the CLASP, this is a concern common to all tests. Further research could illuminate the usefulness of this test off the North American continent.

#### Conclusion

To conclude, the SACL, a two factor measure of stress developed by Mackay et al. (1978), was administered to a Canadian sample and the data was factor

analyzed. The results of the analysis of the data obtained from the Canadian sample were similar to Mackay et al.'s (1978) findings with the exception of the polarity of the factors. Mackay et al. found two bipolar factors, stress and arousal, while four monopolar factors, high stress, low stress, high arousal, and low arousal were extracted in the present study.

A new measure of stress, the CLAS, which presents subjects with short phrases rather than adjectives, was developed as an alternate form of the SACL. The factor analytical results of responses by 392 subjects to the CLAS, indicated that the CLAS reflects four monopolar factors: high stress, low stress, high arousal, and low arousal.

At this time the reason for this discrepancy between the finding of bipolar factors (Mackay et al., 1978), and the current finding of monopolar factors, remains unclear. The author has proposed research which should answer the question.

Perhaps the most important contribution of this thesis was the development of the CLASP, a three factor measure of stress. The factor analytical results obtained here indicate that the CLASP measures six monopolar factors: high stress, low stress, high arousal, low arousal, high power, and low power. Two of these, the power factors, have not been measured previously. The significance of a three component measure of stress with respect to development of a model,

assessment, and treatment were discussed.

#### References

- Anastasi, A. (1982). *Psychological testing*. New York: MacMillan Publishing Co., Inc.
- Bohlin, G., & Kjellberg, A. (1973). Self-reported arousal during sleep deprivation and its relation to performance and physiological variables. *Scandinavian Journal of Psychology*, 16, 203-208.
- Bruning, J. L., & Kintz, B.L. (1968). *Computational handbook of statistics*. Glenview, Ill.: Scott, Foresman and Company.
- Burrows, G., Cox, T., & Simpson, G. (1977). The measurement of stress in a sales training situation. *Journal of Occupational Psychology*, *50*, 45-51.
- Cattell, R. B. (1950). Personality: A systematic theoretical and factual study. New York: McGraw-Hill.
- Cliff, N. (1970). The relation between sample and population characteristic vectors. *Psychometrika*, *35* (2), 163.
- Cooper, C. L. (1983). Introduction. In C. L. Cooper (Ed.) Stress research Lesues for the eighties. New York: John Wiley and Sons.
- Cox, T. (1978). Stress. Baltimore: University Park Press.
- Cox, T., & Mackay, C. (1981). A transactional approach to occupational stress in E.N. Corlett & J. Richardson (Eds.), Stress, work design and productivity. Chichester: John Wiley and Sons.
- Cox, T., & Mackay, C. (in press). The measurement of self-reported stress and arousal. *British Journal of Psychology*.

- Cox, T., Thiraway, M., & Cox, S. (1982). Repetitive work, well-being, and arousal. In H. Ursin & K. Murison (Eds.), *Biological and psychological bases of psychosomatic disease*. Oxford, England: Pergamon.
- Cruickshank, P. J. (1982). Patient stress and the computer in the consulting room. Social Science and Medicine, 16, 1371-1376.
- Cruickshank, P. J. (1984). A stress and arousal mood scale for low vocabulary subjects: A reworking of Mackay et al. (1978). *British Journal of Psychology*, 75, 89-94.
- Davies, D. R. (1968). Physiological and psychological effects of exposure to high intensity noise. *Application of Acoustics*, 1, 218.
- Folkins, C. H. (1970). Temporal factors and the cognitive mediators of stress reaction. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 14, 173-184.
- Frankenhaeuser, M. (1975). Experimental approaches to the study of catechologinines and emotion. In L. Levi (Ed.), *Emotions: Their parameters and measurement*. New York: Raven Press.
- Gorsuch, R. L. (1974). *Factor analysis*. Philadelphia, Pa.: W. B. Saunders Company.
- Green, R., & Nowlis, V. (1957). A factor analytic study of the domain of mood with independent experimental validation of the factors. *American Psychologist*, 12, 438.
- Hair, J. F. Jr., Anderson, R. F., Tathum, R. L., & Grablowsky, B. J. (1979).

  Multivariate data analysis with readings. Tulsa, Okla.: Petroleum Publishing

  Company.
- Holmes, T., & Rahe, R. (1967). The social readjustment rating scale. Journal of Psychosomatic Research, 11, 213.

- Howarth, C. I. (1978). Environmental Stress. In C. I. Howarth & W. C. Gillham (Eds.), *The uses of psychology*. London: Allen and Unwin.
- Howarth, E., & Schokman-Gales, K. (1981). Self-report multiple mood instruments. British Journal of Psychology, 72 (4), 421-441.
- Jahoda, M. & Warren, N. (1966). Attitudes. London: Penguin.
- Kagan, A., & Levi, L. (1971). Adaptations of the psychosocial environment to man's abilities and need. In L. Levi (Ed.), *Society, stress and disease*. London: Oxford University Press.
- Kim, J., & Mueller, C. (1978a). Introduction to factor analysis: What it is and how to do it. Beverly Hills: Sage Publications.
- Kim, J., & Mueller, C. (1978b). Factor analysis: Statistical methods and practical issues. Beverly Hills: Sage Publications.
- King, M., Burrows, G., & Stanley, G. (1983). Measurement of stress and arousal: validation of the stress/arousal adjective check list. *British Journal of Psychology*, 74, 473-479.
- Konopasky, R. J. (1986, April). Three factor check list: Preliminary report of a new test for measuring stress. Paper presented at the Saint Mary's University Psychology Department Conference, Halifax, Nova Scotia.
- Korchin, S. J., & Ruff, G. E. (1964). Personality characteristics of the Mercury astronauts. In G. H. Grosser, H. Wechsler & M. Greenblatt (Eds.), *The threat of impending disaster*. Cambridge, Mass.: M.I.T. Press.
- Lacey, J. I. (1967). Somatic response patterning and stress: Some revisions of activation theory. In M. H. Appley & R. Trumbull (Eds.), *Psychological stress*. New York: Appleton-Century-Croft.

- Lazarus, R. (1970). Cognitive and personality factors underlying threat and coping. In S. Levine & N. Scotch (Eds.), *Social stress*. Chicago: Aldine Publishing Company.
- Lazarus, R. (1976). 'Patterns of adjustment. New York: McGraw-Hill-
- Levi, L. (1975). *Emotions: Their parameters and measurement*. New York: Raven Press.
- Levin, J. (1973). Elementary statistics in social research. New York: Harper and Row, Publishers.
- Levine, S. (1967). Maternal and environmental influences on the adrenocortical response to stress in weahling rats. *Science*, 156, 258.
- Levine, S. (1975). Psychosocial factors in growth and development. In L. Levi (Ed.), Society, stress and disease (Vol. 2). New York: Oxford University Press.
- Lorr, M., & Shea, T. (1979). Are mood states bipolar? *Journal of Personality Assessment*, 43 (5), 468-472.
- Lorr, M., McNair, D., & Fisher, S. (1982). Evidence for bipolar mood states. Journal of Personality Assessment, 46 (4), 432-436.
- Lowe, R., & McGrath, J. E. (1971). Stress, arousal, and performance: Some findings calling for a new theory. *Project Report*, AF 1161-67, AFOSR.
- Mackay, C. J. (1980). The measurement of mood and psychophysiological activity using self-report techniques. In I. Martin & P. H. Venables (Eds), *Techniques in psychophysiology*. Chichester, England: Wiley.
- Mackay, C. J., Cox, T., Burrows, G., & Lazzerini, T. (1978). Inventory for the measurement of self-reported stress and arousal. *Journal of Social and Clinical Psychology*, 17, 283-284.

- Margetts, E. L. (1975). Stress, homeostasis, and the human ecological continuum in time: Sortin implications for psychiatry. In L. Levi (Ed.), Society, stress and disease (Vol. 2). New York: Oxford University Press.
- Mason, J. W. (1971). A re-evaluation of the concept of "non-specificity" in stress theory. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, 8, 323-333.
- McCormick, I., Walkey, F., & Taylor, A. (1985). The Stress Arousal Check List. An independent analysis. *Educational and Psychological Measurement*, 45, 143-146.
- McGrath, J. (1970). Social and psychological factors in stress. New York: Holt, Reinhart and Winston, Inc.
- McGrath, J. (1976). Stress and behaviour in organizations. In M. Dunnett (Ed.), Handbook of industrial and organizational psychology. Chicago: Rand-McNally College Publishing Company.
- Meddis, R. (1969). The analysis of mood ratings. Unpublished PhD. thesis, University of London.
- Meddis, R. (1972). Bipolar factors in mood adjective checklists. *British Journal of Social and Clinical Psychology*, 11, 178-184.
- Norusis, M. (1985). Advanced statistics guide to SPSSX. Chicago: SPSS Inc.
- Nowlis, V. (1965). Research with the Mood Adjective Check List. In S. Tomkins and C. Izard (Eds.), Affect, cognition, and personality: Empirical studies. New York: Springer Publishing Company, Inc.
- Nowlis, V. (1970). Mood, behaviour and experience. In M. Arnold (Ed.), Feelings and emotions. New York: Academic Press.
- Nowlis, V., & Nowlis, H. (1956). The description and analysis of mood. *Annals, New York Academy of Science*, *55*, 345-355.

- Ray, C., & Fitzgibbon, G. (1981). Stress, arousal and coping with surgery. Psychological Medicine, 11, 741-746.
- Roget's II: The new thesaurus. (1984). New York: Berkley Books.
- Ruff, G. E., & Korchin, S. J. (1964). Psychological responses on the Mercury astronauts. In G. H. Grosser, H. Wechsler & M. Greenblatt (Eds.), *The threat of impending disaster*. Cambridge, Mass.: M.I.T. Press.
- Russell, J. A., & Mehrabian, A. (1977). Evidence for a three-factor theory of emotion. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 11, 273-294.
- Sells, S. B. (1970). On the nature of stress. In J. E. McGrath (Ed.), Social and psychological factors in stress. New York: Holt, Rinehart and Winston.
- Selye, H. (1946) The general adaptation syndrome and disease of adaptation. Journal of Clinical Endrocrinology, 6, 117-230.
- Selye, H. (1956). The stress of life. New York: McGraw-Hill.
- Selye, H. (1980a). Selye's guide to stress research (Vol. 1). New York: Van Nostrand.
- Selye, H. (1980b). The stress concept today. In I. Kutash, L. Schlesinger & Associates (Eds.), Handbook on stress and anxiety. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass Publishers.
- Selye, H. (1983a). Selye's guide to stress research (Vol. 3). New York: Scientific and Academic Editions.
- Selye, H. (1983b). The stress concept: past, present, and future. In C. Cooper (Ed.), Stress research: Issues for the eighties. New York: John Wiley, and Sons.
- Shaff, M. (1982). Life after stress. New York and London: Plenum Press.

- Shannon, I. L., & Isbell, G. M. (1963). Stress in dental patients: Effect of local anesthetic procedures. Technical Report Number SAM-TDR-63-29. U.S.A.F. School of Aeorospace Medicine, Brooks Air Force Base, Texas.
- Symington, T., Currie, A. R., Curran, R. S., & Davidson, J. N. (1955). The reaction of the adrenal cortex in conditions of stress. In Ciba Foundations Colloquia on Endocrinology, the human adrenal cortex (Vol. 8). Boston: Little, Brown.
- Symonds, C. (1947). Use and abuse of the term flying stress. In Air Ministry, Psychological disorders in flying personnel of the Royal Air Force, Investigated during the war, 1939-1945/H.M.S.O., Landon.
- Taggart, P., & Carruthers, M. (1971). Endagenous hyperlipidaemia induced by emotional stress of racing driving. *Lancet*, 1, 363.
- Thayer, R. (1967). Measurement of activation through self-report. *Psychological Reports*, 20, 663-678.
- Thayer, R. (1978a). Factor analytic and reliability studies on the activation-deactivation adjective check list. *Psychological Reports*, 42, 747-756.
- Thayer, R. (1978b). Toward a psychological theory of multi-dimensional activation (arousal). *Motivation and Emotion*, 2 (1), 1-34.
- Watts, C., Cox, T., & Robson, J. (1983). Morning-eveningness and diurnal variations in self-reported mood. *The Journal of Psychology*, 113, 251-256.
- Webster's new collegiate dictionary. (1977). Springfield, Mass.: G. & C. Merriam Company.
- Weitz, J. (1970). Psychological research on the problems of human stress. In J. E. McGrath (Ed.), Social and psychological factors in stress. New York: Holt, Rinehart and Winston.
- Welford, A. T. (1973). Stress and performance. Ergonomics, 16, 567-577

### Appendix A

### List of 45 adjectives administered by Mackay et al. (1978)

peaceful tense activated relaxed tired vigorous idle stirred-up up-tight restful active alert apprehensive lively stimulated expectant worried aroused energetic at rest · drowsy somnolent insensitive cheerful bothered passive. contented uneasy intense jittery dejected sluggish leisurely still · quiet pleasant nervous sleepy. placid comfortable quiescent calm distressed . excited fearful

## Appendix B

# 39 items comprising the pilot CLAS

half asleep	+x* + ? -
on edge	4+ + ? -
full of energy	++ + ?
at peace	++ + ?
really tired	++ + ?
in a daze	++ + ?
full of life	++ + ?
don't feel like doing anything	++ + ?
a bundle of nerves	++ + ?
taking it easy	++ + ?
satisfied with life	++ + ?
under a great strain	++ + ?.
a lot on my mind	++ + ?
full of vim and vigour	++ + ?
on the go	++ -+ :#
at the end of my rope	++ + ?
easy-going	++ + ?
wide awake	++ + ?
light-hearted	++ + ?
•	

# Appendix B (continued)

full of pep	** + ? -
heavy-hearted	++ + ?
nodding off a lot	++ + ? -
happy-go-lucky	++ + ? ;-
down in the dumps	++ + ? -
in a panic	++ + ? -
in over my head	++ + ? -
even-tempered	++ + ? -
carrying the weight of the world	++ +#? -
turned on by life	++ + ? -
worn-out	++ + ? -
walking on air	++ + ?
like nothing's worth the effort	++ -+ ? -
rating to go	++ + ? -
wound down	++ + ? -
happy to be alive	++ + ? -
excited by life	++ + ? -
no energy	++ + ? -
life is good	++ + ? -
no get up and go	++ + ? -

# Appendix C

# 31 items comprising the pilot power scale

strong-willed	,	•	++ + ? :
meek and mild	,		++ + ? -
able to hold my own	,		++ + ? -
like to achieve			4+ + ? -
sometimes atraid of my	own shadow		++ + ? -
a go-getter			++, + -? -
likely to succeed		``	++ + ? -
easily led 🌎 🐣		•	++ + ? -
in over my head		,	++ 1+ (? -
a born leader	•		++ + ? -
going no where fast			++ `+ ? -
self-confident			++ + ? :
playing it safe	•		++ + ? ;
in control			++ + ? -
like a failure	,		++ + ? -
self-assured?			++ + ? ~
easily persuaded			++ + ? -
on top of things	`		++ + ? -
like to succeed	•		++ + ? -

# AppendiX C (continued)

not making any progress	++ + ?
like a lightweight	* <sub>++</sub> + ?
sure of myself ,	++ + ?
outspoken	++ + ?
often taken advantage of	++ + ?
able to take it	++ + ?
have a strong backbone	· ++ + ?
sometimes my best isn't good enough	++ + ?
sharp as a tack	++ + ?
unsure of myself	++ + ?
calm under pressure	++ + ?
can't make up my mind	±+ +°?

# Appendix 🗗

# The SACL

sleepy ++ + ? -	uptight	++ + ? -
jittery ++ + ? -	restful	++ + ? -
energetic ++ + ? -	alert	++ + ? -
calm ++ + ? -	cheerful	<del>++</del> + ? -
tired ++ + ? -	active	++ + ? -
drowsy ++ + ? -	apprehensive	++/+ ? -
lively 1+++?-	sluggish	++ + ? -
idle ++ + ? -	peaceful _	++ + ? -
distressed ++ + ?	dejected	++ + ? -
relaxed ++ + ? -	nervous	. ++ + ? -
contented ++ + ? -	bothered	++ + ?
tense ++ + ? -	pleasant	++ + ? -
uneasy ++ + ? -	worried	++ + ? -
vigorous ++ + ? -	comfortable	++ + ? -
activated ++ + ? -	stimulated	++ + ? -

# The CLAS

half asleep	++	+ ,	?	•
on edge	++.	+	?	-
full of energy	<del>;</del> +.	+	?	-
at peace	++	+	?	<u>.</u>
really tired	++	+	?	•
worn-out	<b>*+</b>	+	?	_,
full of life	++.	+	?'	•
wound down	<del>+</del> + ,	+:	?	-
a bundle of nerves	+4	+	?	-
taking it easy	<del>5</del> +	+	?,	
satisfied with life	++	+ '	?	<del>-</del> .
under a great strain	4+	+.	?	· •
a lot on my mind	++	+	?	:
full of vim and vigour	++	+	?	•
raring to go	/ <del>++</del> ,	+	?,	
at the end of my rope	++	+	?	-
easy-going	++	+	?	. +
wide awake	++	.+	?	-
light-hearted	++	+	?	_

### Appendix E (continued)

tull of pep

heavy-hearted ++ + ?

no get up and go ++ + ?

happy-go-lucky ++ + ?

down in the dumps ++ + ?

in a panic ++ + ?

in over my head ++ + ?

even-tempered ++ + ?

carrying the weight of the world ++ + ?

life is good ++ + ?

### Appendix F

### The Power Scale

	•	
able to hold my own	++ <u>+</u> +	`? -
likely to succeed	++ +	? -
unsure of myself	, <del>     </del>	?~ <sub>-</sub>
going no where fast	++ +	? -
self-confident	++ +	3,7
meek and mild	++ +	? -
in control	++ +	? -
like a failure	++ +	? -
self-assured	++ +	· ,
on top of things	++ +	? ;-
not making any progress		? .
can't make up my mind	+ +	·? -
sure of myself	* ++ +	? .
a go-getter	++ +	? -
like a lightweight	++ +	? -
*	•	•

## Appendix G

# The SACL with alternate ordering of items

uptight	++ + ? - ·	sleepy	· .++ + ?`+
restful	++ + ? -	jittery	++ + ? -
alert	++ + ?	energetic	++ + ? -;
cheerful	++ + ? -	calm	++ + ? -
active	++ + ? -	tired	++ + ? +
apprehensive	++ + ? -	drowsy	++ + ? -
sluggish	++ + ? -	lively	++ + ?,-
peaceful	++ + ? -	idle	++ + ? -
dejected	. ++ + ? -	distressed	++ + ? -
nervous	++ + ? -	relaxed	/++ + ?·-
bothered	++ -+ ? -,	contented	y++ ? -
pleasant	++ + ? -	tense	++ + ? -
worried	++ + ? -	uneasy	++ + ? -
comfortable	+ <del>+</del> + ? - ,	vigorous	. ++ +.? -
stimulated	++ +, ?, -	activated	++ + ? -

## · Appendix H

# The CLAS with alternate ordering of items

at the end of my rope	++ + ? -
easy-going $igg \langle$	++ + ? -
wide awake	++' + ? -
light-hearted	++ + ? -
full of pep	++ + ? -
heavy-hearted	++ + ? -
no get up and go	++ + ? -
happy-go-lucky	+++?-
down in the dumps	++ + ? -
in a panic	++ + ? -
in over my head	++ + ? -
even-tempered	++ + ?
carrying the weight of the world	+ ? -
life is good	++ + ? -
excited by life	++ + ? -
half asleep	++ + ? -
on edge	++ + ? -
full of energy	++ + ? -
at peace	++ + ? -

# Appendix H (continued)

really tired _	++ + ? -
worn-out	++ + >
full of life	++ + ? -
wound down	++ + ? -
a bundle of nerves	++ ?
taking it easy	++ + ?
satisfied with life	_++ + ?···
under a great strain	++ + ?
a lot on my mind	+++++.?
full of vim and vigour	++ + ?
ranng to go	++ + ?

## Appendix I

# The power scale with alternate ordering of items

self-assured	. ++ + ? -
on top of things	++ + ?
not making any progress	++ + ?
can't make up my mind	++ + ? -
sure of myself	++ + ? -
a go-getter	++ + ? -
like a lightweight	++ + ?
able to hold my own	++ + ? -
likely to succeed	++ + ? -
unsure of myself	++ + ? -
going no where fast	++ + ? -
self-confident	++ + ? -
meek and mild	++ + ? -
in control	++ + 34 -
like a failure	++ + ? -

### Appendix J

#### Instructions for the SACL

Each of the following words describe feelings or moods. Please use the list to describe your feelings at this moment.

If the word definitely describes how you feel at the moment you read it, circle the double plus that is indicated as a ++ mark to the right of the word. For example, if the word is "relaxed" and you are definitely feeling in relaxed at the moment circle the ++ as follows: (relaxed ++ +? -).

If the word only likely applies to your feelings at this moment circle the single plus indicated as a + mark as follows: (relaxed ++ + ? -).

If the word is not clear to you or you cannot decide whether or not it applies to your feelings at the moment, circle the question mark ? as follows: (relaxed ++ + ? -).

If you clearly decide the word does not apply to your feelings at the moment circle the minus sign - as follows: (relaxed ++ + ? -).

first reactions are usually the most reliable. Therefore do not spend long considering each word. However, try to be as accurate as possible.

#### Appendix K

Instructions for the CLAS

Each of the following phrases describe feelings or moods. Please use the list to describe your feelings at this moment.

If the phrase definitely describes how you feel at the moment you read it, circle the double plus that is indicated as a ++ mark to the right of the phrase. For example, if the phrase is "on edge" and you are definitely feeling on edge at the moment circle the ++ as follows: (on edge ++ + ? -).

If the phrase only likely applies to your feelings at this moment circle the single plus indicated as a + mark as follows: (on edge ++ + ? -).

If the phrase is not clear to you or you cannot decide whether or not it applies to your feelings at the moment, circle the question mark ? as follows: (on edge ++++?).

If you clearly decide the phrase does not apply to your feelings at the moment circle the minus sign - as follows: (on edge ++ + ? -):

First reactions are usually the most reliable. Therefore do not spend long considering each phrase. However, try to be as accurate as possible.

#### Appendix L

#### Instructions for the power scale

Each of the following phrases describe feelings or moods. Please use the list to describe your feelings at this moment.

If the phrase definitely describes how you feel at the moment you read it, circle the double plus that is indicated as a ++ mark to the right of the phrase. For example, if the phrase is "in control" and you are definitely feeling in control at the moment circle the ++ as follows: (in control ++ + ? -).

If the phrase only likely applies to your feelings at this moment circle the single plus indicated as a + mark as follows: (in control ++ + ? -).

If the phrase is not clear to you or you cannot decide whether or not it applies to your feelings at the moment, circle the question mark ? as follows: (in control +++? -).

If you clearly decide the phrase does not apply to your feelings at the moment circle the minus sign - as follows: (in control ++ + ? -).

First reactions are usually the most reliable. Therefore do not spend long considering each phrase. However, try to be as accurate as possible.